JOURNAL of FOOD SCIENCE and TECHNOLOGY



ASSOCIATION OF FOOD SCIENTISTS & TECHNOLOGISTS, INDIA

VOL. 24. NO. 2.

MARCH / APRIL 1987





ASSOCIATION OF FOOD SCIENTISTS AND TECHNOLOGISTS

(INDIA)

The Association is a professional and educational organization of Food Scientists and Technologists

Affiliated to the Institute of Food Technologists, USA

Objects:

٢

٢

- To stimulate research on various aspects of Food Science 1. and Technology.
- To provide a forum for the exchange, discussion and dissemination of 2. current developments in the field of Food Science and Technology.
- To promote the profession of Food Science and Technology. 3.

The ultimate object is to serve humanity through better food.

Major Activities:

- Publication of Journal of Food Science and Technology (bi-monthly) 1. and Indian Food Industry (IFI) (quarterly).
- Arranging lectures and seminars for the benefit of members. 2.

Holding symposia on different aspects of Food Science and Technology. 3. Membership:

Membership is open to graduates and diploma holders in Food Science and Technology, and to those engaged in the profession. Each member will receive a copy of the Journal of Food Science and Technology, published by the Association. The Chapters of the Association are located at Bangalore, Bombay, Calcutta, Delhi, Hyderabad, Hissar, Jabalpur, Jammu, Karnal, Kanpur, Ludhiana, Lucknow, Madras, Nagpur, Parbhani, Poona, Palayamkottai, Pantnagar and Trivandrum,

Madras, Nagpur, Parbhan	i, P	oona,	Pal	ayaml	cottai,	Pantnagar and Triv	andru	ım.
Membership Fee				Admiss	ion Fee	Annual Subscr	iption	
						Journal of Food So	cience	and
Life Member	Rs	340	500	Rs	5	Technolog	У	
Life Member (Resident abroad)	5	150	400	\$	1	Inland	Rs.	180
Cornorate Member	De	146	700	Re	5	Foreign: Surface Ma	ail 💲	60
	N3	1494	40	1.5	5	Air Mail	\$	80
Member	Rs	25	40	Rs	5	Indian Food Ind	dustry	
Member (Resident abroad)	\$		25	\$	1	Inland	Rs.	125
Affiliate Member	Rs		60	Rs	5	Foreign: Surface Ma	ail \$	40
Student Member	Rs	UK	25	Rs	5	Air Mail	\$	50
Student Member (abroad)		\$	15			Indian (for members	s) Rs.	20
		•	20			Foreign ,, ,,	\$	6
For membership and other particulars kindly address								
The	H	DBOLA	rv E	vecuti	se Sec	retary		

The Honorary Executive Secretary

Association of Food Scientists and Technologists, India Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013, India

 $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$

Editorial Board	
N. Balasubramanyam	
Kantna S. Shurpalekar	
P. Narasimham	
S. N. Nigam	
Patric Tauro	
D. Rajalakshmi	
G. Ramanatham	
L. A. Ramanathan	
K. A. Ranganath	
Richard Joseph	
R. Sheshadri	
T. Sreenivas	
D. S. Wagle	
Y. S. Lewis	(Ex officio)
T. S. S. Rao	(do)
N. Keshava	(-do-)

Editor

N. Chandrasekhara

The Journal of Food Science and Technology is a bimonthly publication of the Association of Food Scientists and Technologists, India (AFST) issued in February, April, June, August, October, and December.

The Editor assumes no responsibility for the statements and opinions expressed by the contributors.

Manuscripts for publication and books for reviewing in the Journal should be addressed to the Editor, Journal of Food Science and Technology. AFST, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013. The Editor reserves the privilege of editing the manuscript to make it suitable for publication in the Journal.

No part of this journal can be reproduced by anybody without written permission of the Editor.

Correspondence regarding subscriptions and advertisements should be addressed to the Executive Secretary, AFST, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013, India. Payments may be made by cheque, draft, postal or money order in favour of Exec. Secretary, AFST.

Executives of the AFST(I)

President

V. H. Potty

Vice-Presidents A. M. Nanjundaswamy P. J. Dubash K. L. Sarode B. P. N. Singh A. C. Kapoor Exec. Secretary T. S. Satyanarayana Rao Joint Secretary N. Keshava Treasurer K. Sambaiah

JOURNAL OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Volume 24

Number 2

March/April 1987

CONTENTS

Research Papers	
Effect of Conditioning Methods on Physico-chemical, Milling and Functional (Baking) Properties of Soaked Wheat	55
P. Mehta, H. P. S. Nagi and K. S. Sekhon	
Physical Properties of Unsweetened and Sweetened Soymilk R. R. Lal, S. C. B. Siripurapu and B. P. N. Singh	60
Studies on Chemical Characteristics and Nitrate Nitrogen Content of a Few Cultivars of Towato in Relation to Tin Pick up by Canned Juice L. V. Kulwal, M. V. Patwardhan and U. V. Sulladmath	63
Changes in Polyphenoloxidase and Other Endogenous Factors During Ripening in Some Banana VarietiesK. S. Jayaraman and M. N. Ramanuja	67
Studies on the Pectin Methylesterase Activity During Cold Storage of Patharnakh Pear J. S. Randhawa, B. S. Dhillon, J. S. Bal and J. S. Bhullar	71
Milk Scale Deposition on Heated Surface Under Laminar Flow B. C. Sarkar, B. P. N. Singh and Maharaj Narain	73
Meat Yields and Quality Characteristics of Meat from Spent Hens of White Leghorn and Rhode Island Red Breeds N. Kondaiah, B. Panda and A. S. R. Anjaneyulu	78
Studies on the Glycerolysis of Groundnut Oil and Cottonseed Oil Usha Bajwa and G. S. Bains	81
Storage Stability of Edible Oils and Their Blends T. N. Murthi, M. Sarma, V. D. Devdhara, S. Chatterjee and B. K. Chakraborty	84
Research Notes	
Ethanol Production by Zymomonas mobilis: Effect of High Substrate Concentra- tion on the Kinetic Parameters V. K. Jain and Paras Nath	88
Modification of Pons's Method of Estimating Aflatoxin B ₁ in Corn, Groundnut and Groundnut Cake	90

E. R. Rati, V. Prema and T. Shantha

ห้องสมุดกรมวิทยาศาสตร์บริการ

-8 6 6 2530

L-Malate Content in Irradiated Onions (Allium cepa L.) CV. Valenciana Sintetica 14	91
J. L. Piccini, D. R. Evans, and H. O. Quaranta	
Preparation of Fruit Flavoured Beverage from Whey	93
R. L. Gagrani, S. D. Rathi and U. M. Ingle	
Studies on Dehydration and Deep Freezing of Paneer	95
L. Vishweshwariah	
Physical and Chemical Composition of Indian Cocoa (Theobroma cacao L.) beans	96
Esther Malini, J. Puranaik, S. Shivashankar and E. S. Nambudiri	
Some Physico-mechanical Properties of Chillies	98
U. S. Shivhare, Maharaj Narain, U. S. Agrawal, R. P. Saxena and B. P. N. Singh	

Book Reviews

100

Effect of Conditioning Methods on Physico-chemical, Milling and Functional (Baking) Properties of Soaked Wheat

P. MEHTA, H. P. S. NAGI AND K. S. SEKHON

Department of Food Science and Technology, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana-141 004, India

Received 30 November 1985; revised 8 July 1986

The physico-chemical, milling and baking characteristics of soaked wheat WL-1562 and S-308 as affected by methods of conditioning were investigated. Kernel weight, density, pearling index, water uptake, protein and ash contents of grains decreased with soaking treatment. Soaking and conditioning did not significantly increase the flour yield. Soaking of grains yielded coarser flour, the proportion of which increased with hot and steam conditioning. Diastatic activity and total sugars increased significantly with soaking whereas damaged starch and gluten considerably decreased. Steam conditioning of soaked wheat seriously injured the gluten properties and produced flour of low damaged starch seriously. Bake absorptions of flour and whole meal were considerably reduced upon soaking; but loaf volume improved with the treatment. Warm or hot conditioning improved the loaf volume and internal characteristics, but steam conditioned wheat exhibited poor bread making properties. Cookie's spread increased with soaking, but conditioning methods were of no use in improving its quality. Cake volume and internal characters were better when soaked wheat was hot conditioned. The doughs from soaked wheat meal were sticky and baked to inferior *chapatis* as compared to the *chapatis* from sound wheat.

Wheat grains get soaked and germinated before and after harvest which is a common problem all over the world. The detrimental effects of germination include cumulative losses of grain yield, grain quality, flour yield and baking quality¹⁻⁵.

Punjab is the leading wheat producing State of India and there is an increasing use of Punjab wheats in the milling and baking industry all over the country. In the recent past, there had been instances of untimely light to moderate showers during harvesting season which led to the wetting of grains in the ear or in the markets. Research about such damage has been concerned primarily with the development of alpha-amylase activity; however, information on effects in the early stages of germination, is scanty⁶,⁷. Besides variety and environmental factors which affect the baking quality of flour, proper conditioning method and milling are of high importance in realizing full potential of any wheat. Our first objective in the present investigation was to examine the effects of soaking on physico-chemical, milling and baking properties of two commercial varieties of wheat. The second objective was to see if there is any effect of conditioning method on these soaked wheats in improving their utilization.

Materials and Methods

Two cultivars of bread wheat, 'WL-1562' and 'S-308' were procured from the Department of Plant Breeding,

Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana from 1983-84 crop.

Soaking treatment: The cleaned wheat samples (10 kg) from each variety were soaked to 35 per cent moisture at 30° C (approximately for 6 hr). The excess water was drained off and the wheat dried in a forced air drier at 30° C to a moisture content of about 13 per cent.

Conditioning of wheat: The soaked and dried samples were conditioned using cold, warm, hot and steam conditioning methods as indicated in Table 1.

TABLE 1.	METHODS OF O	CONDITIONI	NG THE SO	ARED
Conditioning method	Tempering moisture (%)	Temp. (°C)	Time (min)	Resting period (at 30 °C) (hr)
Cold*	16.0	30	5	30
Cold	14.5	30	5	24
Warm	14.5	45	90	20
Hot	14.5	88	12	16
Steam	14.5	103	1/3	8

*Control, not soaked;

Milling: The tempered samples were milled in the Buhler pneumatic Laboratory Mill (MLU-202) under conditions of appropriate roll setting and feed rate. The yields of straight grade flour, bran and shorts were calculated on the basis of recovered products.

Physico-chemical properties of grain and flour: 1000kernel weight, pearling index, protein (N×5.7) and ash contents of grains were determined according to AACC methods⁸. Granulation of flour and colour grade values were estimated using Henry Simon's sedimentation apparatus and Kent-Jones and Martin Colour Grader⁹.

Flour ash, protein, gluten, total sugars, damaged starch and diastatic activity were determined according to AACC methods Free-amino acids were determined using the methods of Lie¹⁰.

Baking studies: For bread making the straight dough method⁸ with remixing procedure of Irvine and McMullan¹¹ was followed with the difference that doughs were mixed optimally using required quantity of water. Cookies and cakes were made as per the AACC methods⁸ and scored accordingly. Chapati (unleavened pan cake) was made by the method of Austin and Ram¹² using optimum water for dough kneading.

Statistical analysis: All analyses were performed in duplicates. Analysis of variance was conducted according to Pence and Sukhatme¹³. Least significant ranges (LSR) were computed at 5 per cent level of significance and tested with the Duncan's multiple range test.

Results and Discussion

Grain characteristics: Kernels of 'S-308' variety were bolder (45.6g) than those of 'WL-1562' (41.3g). Kernel weight, and density of kernels decreased with soaking treatment. 'WL-1562' variety was distinctively harder than 'S-308' as inferred from pearling index values. The decrease in pearling index with soaking treatment from 70.5 to 65.5 and from 65.1 to 53.7 per cent for 'WL-1562' and 'S-308' wheats respectively, indicated that grains got softened by soaking. Imbibition of water during soaking may be the reason for change in physical structure of the kernels. The protein and ash contents of grains decreased slightly by soaking in both the cultivars.

The soaked wheats showed lower uptake of water when immersed in water at different temperatures and times. A typical line diagram of 'WL-1562' showing the effect of soaking on water uptake is given in Fig. 1. The moisture content of sound grains of 'S-308' variety increased to about 20 per cent at 40°C as compared to 17.4 per cent of 'WL-1562'. The soaked grains at the same temperature reached the moisture content of 17.0 and 16.9 per cent respectively. These results are in agreement with those reported by Nagi and Bains¹⁴. The greater uptake of water by 'S-308' wheat may be due to the softness of the grains than 'WL-1562' wheat.

Milling characteristics: The data on the flour yield, shorts, bran, ash and flour colour as affected by soaking treatment and method of conditioning the soaked wheat are given in Table 2. Soaking treatment of grains did not significantly increase the flour yield in both the varieties. The flour yield of the soaked samples was 74.5 and 76.6 per cent for 'WL-1562' and 'S-308' varieties respectively as against 71.9 and 74.2 per cent for sound samples. Consequently, the percentage of bran and shorts decreased in the soaked samples. The higher yield of flour may be because a

Parameters	Parameters Variety		Soaked wheat			
		Cold	Cold	Warm	Hot	Steam
Flour yield (%)	WL-1562	71.9	74.5	76.4	75.9	76.0
	S -308	74.2	76.6	76.8	76.7	73.9
Bran (%)	WL-1562	13.9	13.0	9.6	13.1	14.4
	S-308	14.7	14.2	12.0	13.0	14.0
Short (%)	WL-1562	14.2	12,5	14.0	11.0	9.6
	S-308	11.1	9.2	11.2	10.2	12.1
Ash (%)	WL-1562	0.47	0.45	0.46	0.46	0,46
	S-308	0.46	0.41	0.46	0.43	0.42
Colour grade	WL-1562	1.7	1.8	1.9	1.4	1.3
	S-308	1.9	1.7	1.7	1.6	1.0

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF METHOD OF CONDITIONING OF SOAKED WHEAT ON MILLING PROPERTIES



Fig 1. Effect of soaking on uptake of water during immersion in water by variety WL-1562

part of endosperm is shifted to break and reduction flours which under normal milling would be conveyed to the shorts stream.

The method of conditioning the soaked wheat favourably influenced the flour yield in both the varieties. The highest flour yield was found by warm conditioning of soaked wheat samples in the two varieties. Hot as well as steam conditioned samples also increased the recovery of flour; however, the increase was nonsignificant. The varietal mean for 'S-308' was higher (75.6 per cent) than that of 'WL-1562' (74.9 per cent) but this difference was not significant.

Flour characteristics: The granulation curves revealed that soaking treatment increased the coarser size particles in flour in both the cultivars. The particle size distribution in a sample of flour had a significant bearing on the water absorption capacity. Warm con-



Fig 2. Effect of method of conditioning of soaked wheat on particle size distribution curves from variety WL-1562

ditioning of soaked wheat resulted in flour of finer granularity. The particles of less than 50 μ size increased from 13.3 to 18.3 per cent in 'WL-1562' and from 16.7 to 25.0 per cent in 'S-308' flour. This shifting of coarser size particles to smaller ones was lower with hot conditioning of soaked wheat. Steam conditioning of soaked wheat produced flour of comparatively coarser than warm or hot conditioned samples and in case of 'WL-1562' about one-third of the flour had the particle size more than 100 μ . So, warm conditioning was more conducive to soaked wheats for getting flour of finer granulation. The typical granulation curves for 'WL-1562' wheat as affected by soaking and use of various conditioning methods on soaked wheat are given in Fig. 2.

Flour colour and ash values of flours (Table 2) revealed that the ash content reduced with soaking treatment in both the varieties though the flour extraction was more in those samples. Similarly, Kent-Jones and Martin Colour grade values also reflected the decrease

TABLE 3. EFFECT OF METHOD OF CONDITIONING OF SOAKED WHEAT ON PHYSICO-CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF FLOUR

Description	N/- · ·	Sound wheat	Soaked wheat			
rarameter	variety	Cold	Cold	Warm	Hot	Steam
Protein (%)	WL-1562	9.90	9.60	9.60	9.60	10,10
	S-308	8.80	8.90	8,90	8.80	9.40
Gluten, dry (%)	WL-1562	10.00	8,80	8.70	8.90	1.10
	S-308	7.90	7.40	7.80	7.70	5,20
Free amino acids	WL-1562	1.17	1.29	1.26	1.19	1.29
(glycine mg/g)	S-3 08	0.62	0.64	0.58	0.55	0.65
Diastatic activity	WL-1562	204	310	208	188	120
(mg maltose/10 g)	S-308	153	269	134	127	83
Damaged starch (%)	WL-1562	6.57	5.66	5,52	4.72	3.68
	S -308	5.72	3.69	3.94	3.61	3.21
Total sugars (%)	WL-1562	0.97	1.37	1.13	0.96	0.79
_ (////	S-308	1.10	1.15	1.06	0.91	0.73

indicating whiteness of flour with soaking. Decrease in the ash content of soft wheat flour was also observed by Hwang and Bushuk³ and Lukow and Bushuk⁶. The later stated that this decrease in the ash content resulted from leaching of ash yielding components during soaking and the utilization of inorganic ions in metabolism/ respiration. Method of conditioning did not have any noticeable impact on ash content of flours.

The perusal of the data (Table 3) showed that the varieties registered non-significant decrease in flour protein with different methods of conditioning. However, the varieties differed significantly in the protein content. Translocation of amino acids to the developing embryo may be the reason for decrease in protein content of flour during soaking. Nagi et al.⁷ reported a significant decrease in the protein of flour upon soaking of wheat while Hwang and Bushuk³ and Lukow and Bushuk⁶ reported only a slight decrease with soaking and germination of grains.

Gluten content decreased with soaking treatment and 'WL-1562' variety showed a greater decrease than 'S-308' essentially due to varietal characters. The decrease in the gluten was attributed to its breakdown by proteolytic enzymes developed during soaking. Warm or hot conditioning of soaked wheat had no influence on the gluten content but steam conditioning resulted in a drastic decrease in the gluten especially in 'WL-1562' wheat where it decreased to merely 1.1 per cent.

Free-amino acids of the flour increased with soaking in Tkachuk¹⁵ stated that the free both the cultivars. amino acids production began few hours after sound wheat was wetted and their level represented a sensitive measure of germination. Warm or hot conditioning of soaked wheat resulted in the slight decrease of free amino acids but steam conditioning had no influence on the free amino acids.

Diastatic activity and free sugars increased significantly in both the varieties with soaking treatment. The reduction in the damaged starch content was also The diastatic activity in 'WL-1562' insignificant. creased from 204 to 310 mg maltose/10 g and in 'S-308' from 153 to 269 mg maltose/10 g upon soaking. A number of authors¹⁶⁻¹⁹ had also shown increased activity with soaking and sprouting.

A significant decrease in the damaged starch content of soaked wheat flour (6.57 to 5.66 per cent in 'WL-1562' and 5.72 to 3.69 per cent in 'S-308') was observed. Warm, hot or steam conditioning decreased the diastatic activity and damaged starch contents in both the varieties. As expected, the results showed that increased temperatures applied during conditioning destroyed the enzyme system and particularly steam conditioning caused a heavy reduction in diastatic activity and damaged starch contents. Total sugars increased significantly with soaking in the two varieties; however, no significant differences were found in the non-reducing sugar component. Conditioning methods significantly reduced the amount of sugars in the flours.

Baking properties: The data on bread making quality of flour milled after conditioning are given in Table 4 and typical loaf characteristics are shown in Fig. 3. Soaking of wheat had a favourable influence on the bread making properties of flour in both the varieties. Bake absorption of the varieties differed significantly. However, the conditioning methods had no impact on the bake absorption in the two cultivars. Loaf volume increased significantly with soaking in both the

Parameters	Variety	Sound wheat	Soaked wheat			
		Cold	Cold	Warm	Hot	Steam
Bread volume (ml)	WL-1562	430	450	520	520	230
	S-308	420	450	460	490	330
Bake absorption (%)	WL-1562	64	62	61	62	60
	S -308	58	55	57	58	60
Cake volume (ml)	WL-1562	920	920	940	980	835
	S-308	1000	1010	955	1020	1000
Cookie spread (W/T)	WL-1562	6.2	6.4	6.1	6.1	6.1
	S-308	6,5	7.5	6.5	6.3	5.7
Whole meal water	WL-1562	64.0	60,0			
absorption (%)	S-308	55.7	57.4			
- Not determined.						

TABLE 4.	EFFECT OF METHON	OF CONDITIONING	OF SOARED	WHEAT ON BAKING	CHARACTERISTICS
----------	------------------	-----------------	-----------	-----------------	-----------------



Fig. 3. Effect of soaking and method of conditioning on bread making properties of WL-1562 wheat (1) control, cold conditioned; (2) soaked, cold conditioned; (3) soaked warm conditioned; (4) soaked, hot conditioned and (5) soaked, steam conditioned.

cultivars which further increased with warm and hot conditioning of samples. Steam conditioned samples produced hard and smaller loaves with poor bread characteristics. The higher temperatures applied during steam conditioning may have destroyed the gluten properties with poor gas retaining power. Soaking of wheat had a negligible effect on crust and crumb characteristics but hot conditioning improved the crust colour, crumb texture and grain of loaves. Hot conditioning also improved handling properties of soaked wheats.

The method of conditioning the soaked wheat and soaking did not significantly influence cookie making properties. Cookie spread factor decreased with different conditioning methods. Warm or hot conditioning of soaked wheat increased the thickness of cookies but width decreased whereas steam conditioned samples produced a noticeable decrease in spread factor.

The varieties differed significantly in cake volume; however, soaking treatment had no effect on cake volume. Variety 'S-308' showed a slight increase in cake volume, whereas no difference was found in 'WL-1562' with soaking treatment. The varietal mean for cake volume in 'WL-1562' was 835 ml and in 'S-308', was 1000 ml. Hot conditioning of soaked wheat improved the cake volume in both the varieties. Thickness of walls and grain score reduced with soaking in Poor cake baking quality was both the varieties. observed by Lorenz and Valvano⁵ in flour of 1-day sprouted wheat. They found that cakes had a smaller volume and had a dip in the centre, a coarse grain and firm texture. Cakes from variety 'S-308' had a dip in the centre in the present studies also. The cake characteristics ('WL-1562') as affected by soaking treatment and use of conditioning methods on soaked wheat are shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Effect of soaking and method of conditioning on cake making properties of WL-1562 wheat (1) control, cold conditioned; (2) soaked, cold conditioned; (3) soaked, warm conditioned; (4) soaked, hot conditioned and (5) soaked, steam conditioned.

Chapati (unleavened pan cake) made from soaked wheat meal revealed a deterioration of the doughs, being sticky and having reduced water absorption. Sound wheat meal *chapati* was creamish to light brownish while a dull white *chapati* resulted from soaked wheats. The texture of *chapati* made from soaked wheats was semi-hard as compared to the soft, smooth and pliable texture from sound wheats.

References

- Waltl, K., Effect of different amounts of germinated grains on baking quality of wheat. Muchle Mischfuttertechnik., 1977, 114, (5), 63.
- Kozmina, N. P., Potavina, V. S. and Luganskaya, A., Changes in enzyme activity during wheat germination. *Khbbopekaryana i Konditerskaya Promyshlennost.*, 1976, 10, 20.
- Hwang, P. and Bhusuk, W., Some changes in endosperm protein during sprouting of wheat. Cereal Chem., 1973, 50, 147.
- Gawda, J., Sprouted cereals. Prezeglad zbozowo Mlynasski., 1973, 17 (4), 27.
- Lorenz, K. and Valvano, R., Functional characteristics of sprout damaged soft white wheat flour. J. Fd Sci., 1981, 46, 1018.

- Lukow, O. W. and Bhusuk, W., Influence of germination on wheat quality. I. Function (bread making) and biochemical properties. *Cereal Chem.*, 1984, 61, 336.
- Nagi, H. P. S. and Bains, G. S., Density pattern in wheat as influenced by conditioning variables. *Bull. Grain. Technol.*, 1980, 18, 93.
- Approved Methods, American Association of Cereal Chemists. St. Paul. Minnesota, U.S.A., 1976.
- Simons, H., Determination of granularity by benzene sedimentation method. in Cereal Laboratory Methods. Henry Simon Ltd., Stockport, England, 1976.
- Lie, S., The E. B. C. ninhydrin method for determination of free amino nitrogen. J. Inst. Brew., 1973, 79, 37.
- 11. Irvine, G. N., and McMullan, M. E., The 'remix' baking test. Cereal Chem., 1960, 37, 603.
- 12. Austin, A. and Ram, A., Studies on *chapati* making quality of wheat. *ICAR Tech. Bull.*, 1971, 31, 108.
- 13. Pence, V. G. and Sukhatme, P. V., Statistical Methods for Agricultural Research Workers, ICAR, New Delhi, 1967.

- Nagi, H. P. S. and Bains, G. S., Effect of scoring and conditioning variables on milling, rheological and baking properties of Indian wheats. J. Fd Sci. Technol. 1983, 20, 122.
- 15. Tkachuk, R., Free amino acids in germinated wheat. Canadian Gr. Commission, Gr. Res. Lab. 1973, 1404.
- Greenaway, W. T., The sprouted wheat problem. The search for a solution. Cereal Sci. Today, 1970, 14, 390.
- 17. Lineback, D. R. and Ponpipom, S., Effect of germination of wheat, oats and pearl millet on alpha-amylase activity and starch degradation. *Starke*, 1977, **29**, 520.
- Strand, E., A seed dormancy index for selection of cereal cultivars resistance to preharvest sprouting. Cereal Res. Commun., 1980, 8, 219.
- McCrate, A. J., Nielsen, M. T., Paulsen, G. M. and Heyne, E. G., Preharvest sprouting and alpha-amylase activity in hard red and hard white winter wheat cultivars. *Cereal Chem.*, 1981, 58, 424.

Physical Properties of Unsweetened and Sweetened Soymilk

R. R. LAL¹, S. C. B. SIRIPURAPU² AND B. P. N. SINGH

Department of Post Harvest Process and Food Engineering, College of Technology, G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology, Pantnagar-263 145, India

Receieved 18 December 1985; revised 30 June 1986

Effect of temperature on density, viscosity, specific heat and thermal conductivity for unsweetened and sweetened soymilk was determined. The density of unsweetened soymilk varied from 1.03459 at 10° C to 1.00365 g/ml at 90° C whereas that of sweetened soymilk varied from 1.0369 at 10° C to 1.0061 g/ml at 90° C. The viscosity decreased from 7.52 cp at 10° C to 0.86 cp at 90° C and from 8.62 cp at 10° C to 1.04 cp at 90° C for unsweetened and sweetened soymilk respectively. Specific heat for unsweetened soymilk increased from 0.9525 to 0.9623 cal/(g. $^{\circ}$ c) when the temperature was increased from 20 to 92.9° C. In case of sweetened soymilk, it increased from 0.9145 to 0.9234 cal/(g. $^{\circ}$ c) when the temperature was increased from 20.1 to 92.7° C. Thermal conductivity increased from 0.33271 to 0.41341 Kcal/(hr-m- $^{\circ}$ C) when average temperature was increased from 37.68 to 92.49° C for unsweetened soymilk, it increased from 38.30 to 89.79° C. Different models were developed correlating the temperature and physical properties.

Heating and cooling of the products are probably the most frequently occurring processes in a liquid food processing plant. Therefore, information on product properties that govern flow and heat transfer behaviour is of importance. How the density, viscosity, specific heat and thermal conductivity change with temperature has considerable bearing on design and operation of related process equipments. Soymilk is a milk-like beverage. It is a suspension of fine soy solids in water. It has considerable potential as a milk extender and beverage. Very little information is available on the physical properties of soymilk although such studies have been made on skim milk¹, whole milk²⁻⁴ and other milk products⁵⁻⁹. Hence, the effect of temperature on density, viscosity, specific heat and thermal con ductivity of soymilk was studied.

Present address:

¹L'irectorate of Pulse Research (ICAR) Kanpur-208 024, India.

²Department of Agricultural Product Process Engineering, Gujarat Agricultural University, Anand-388 110, India.

Materials and Methods

Soymilk was obtained from the Food Research Laboratory, G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology, Pantnagar¹⁰. Unsweetened soymilk had 3.2 per cent protein, 1.7 per cent fat, 3.2 per cent carbohydrate, 1.5 per cent sucrose and 0.5 per cent minerals. In the sweetened soymilk, all the other solids were kept at the same level except sucrose which was 6 per cent. Samples were chilled to 5°C before actual tests were conducted.

Specific gravity bottle and Hopplet viscometer were used to determine density and viscosity, respectively. Method of mixtures was used to determine specific heat. The guarded hot plate method, described by Kaye and Higgins¹¹ was used to determine thermal conductivity. For density and viscosity, five replications were made to get the average value at each temperature. In case of specific heat and thermal conductivity, three replications were done.

Results and Discussion

Density, \Im , (g/ml): The densities of unsweetened and sweetened soymilk decreased with temperature and the two curves were almost parallel to each other (Fig. 1). The density of unsweetened soymilk varied from 1.03459 at 10°C to 1.00365 g/ml at 90°C whereas that of sweetened soymilk varied from 1.0369 at 10°C to 1.0061 g/ml at 90°C. The decrease in its density with increasing temperature seems to be influenced by the change in the density of water alone, since the density of soy solids is likely to remain constant as the coefficient of thermal expansion of biological solids is negligibly small.

An empirical equation has been derived to correlate the density of soymilk (?) at any temperature (t) to its density at 20°C (ς_{20}) $\varsigma = \varsigma_{20} (1 - a \theta - \beta \theta^2)$ where $h = (t-20)^{\circ}C$ and **a** and **b** are Empirical constants. For unsweetened soymilk, $a = 2.8594 \times 10^{-4}$,

8=1.6058×10⁻⁶



For sweetened soymilk,
$$a = 2.1924 \times 10^{-4}$$

 $\beta = 2.5086 \times 10^{-6}$

The constants α and β have been determined using least squares method. The density of soymilk at any temperature in the experimental range can be predicted with an accuracy of \pm 7.0 per cent.

Lal et al¹² reported that the density of cow's milk and buffalo milk decreased with the increase in temperature. In that case also, the variation of density with temperature is not linear.

Viscosity, $\mu(cp)$: The viscosity decreased from 8.62 cp at 10°C to 1.03 cp at 90°C and from 7.52 cp at 10°C to 0.86 cp at 90°C for sweetened and unsweetened soymilk, respectively. Lal *et al.*¹² reported that the viscosity of cow's milk varied from 3.43 at 10°C to 0.38 cp at 90°C whereas that of buffalo milk varied from 2.45 at 15°C to 0.76 cp at 90°C. Soymilk shows a much higher viscosity than normal milk at ower temperatures though this difference is much less at higher temperatures.

The higher viscosity of sweetened soymilk is due to higher sucrose content. The difference between the viscosities of 1.5 and 6 per cent aqueous sucrose solution is 0.1136 cp while that between unsweetened and sweetened soymilk is 0.5834 cp. This indicates that the effect of sucrose concentration on viscosity is greater when added to soymilk.

The relationship between viscosity of soymilk and temperature is depicted in Fig. 2 and can be represented by the equation



Fig 2. Relationship between log (viscosity) and temperature

10-4.

Where $\mu =$ Viscosity, cp

R = Universal gas content, K cal/(g-mole.°K)

T = Absolute temperature, °K

A and E = Empirical constants

For unsweetened soymilk: $A = 3.5605 \times 10^{-4}$,

and E = 5.6339

For sweetened soymilk: $A=5.6024 \times 10^{-4}$,

and E = 5.4348.

The equation has the same mathematical form as that of Arrhenius equation for reaction velocity. Therefore the quantity E can be interpreted as some kind of energy of activation for the molecular momentum transfer of viscous flow which is quite consistent with the concept of fluidized vacancies which provides a simple mechanism for the flow of a liquid in which the molecules are packed nearly as closely as they are in a crystal¹³. The activation energies for unsweetened and sweetened soymilk are close to each other.

Specific heat, C_p (cal/g-°C): Specific heat of soymilk increases with increase in temperature (Table 1). Lal et al.¹² observed similar trend for cow's milk and buffalo milk. This smooth variation with temperature agrees with Fernandez-Martin⁶ findings. The relationship can be expressed by

 $\mathbf{C}_{p} = \mathbf{C}_{o} + \mathbf{C}_{1} \mathbf{t}$ Where,

 $C_p =$ Specific heat, $\frac{K \text{ cal}}{(kg^{\circ}C)}$ t=Temperature, °C C_a and C_1 =Empirical constants For unsweetened soymilk $C_o = 0.94903$ and $C_1 = 1.349 \times 10^{-3}$

For sweetened soymilk $C_o = 0.91044$

and $C_1 = 1.259 \times 10^{-3}$ Constants C_o and C_1 were calculated by the least squares method. The equation predicts the specific heat value of soymilk at any temperature in the range of 20 to 90°C with a maximum error of ± 0.4 per cent. The specific heat of unsweetened soymilk is higher than that of cow's milk, sweetened soymilk and buffalo milk,

TABLE	1. SPECIFIC HE	AT (CP) OF SOY	MILK		
Unsweetened soymilk		Sweetened soymilk			
Av. temp (°C)	Sp. heat Cal/(g-°C)	Av. temp. (°C)	Sp. heat Cal/(g-°C)		
20.0	0.9525	20.1	0.9145		
29.5	0.9532	28.7	0.9150		
40.2	0.9526	40.8	0.9140		
53.0	0.9572	51.1	0.9161		
67.1	0.9581	67.3	0.9164		
80.2	0,9590	80.4	0.9220		
92.9	0.9623	92.7	0.9234		

in the order given. This may be attributed to the water content of the product which plays the most dominant in role the specific heat of different milks. Higher the water content, higher is the specific heat of the product. Many workers 6, 9, 14-16 have proposed equations for specific heat on the basis of composition. However, only the equation of Fernandez-Martin⁶ includes the effect of temperature and total solids. Specific heat values calculated through his equation compared well with the data obtained in the present study.

Thermal Thermal conductivity, K (kcal/m-hr- $^{\circ}C$): conductivity of soymilk increased linearly with temperature. Data can be represented through the equation.

$$K = K_0 + K_1 t$$

Where,

K = Thermal conductivity Kcal/(m-hr- $^{\circ}$ C) t=Temperature, °C

 K_o and K_1 = Empirical constants.

For unsweetened soymilk, $K_o = 0.26752$

and K₁=0.001592

For sweetened soymilk, $K_o = 0.23372$

and K1=0.001901

The constants K_0 and K_1 were calculated by the least squares method.

Thermal conductivity of soymilk is lower than normal fluid milk¹². Unsweetened soymilk is less dependent on temperature than sweetened soymilk. Addition of sucrose to unsweetened soymilk resulted in decrease in thermal conductivity. The degree of decrease in thermal conductivity is more at lower temperatures than at higher temperatures (Table 2).

Acknowledgement

The study reported was conducted at G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology, Pantnagar as a part of an ICAR sponsored project "Heat transfer in processing of milk and milk products."

TABLE 2.	THFRMAL	CONDUCTIVITY	(K)	OF	SOYMILK
			·/	•••	

Unsweet	tened soymilk	Sweetened soymilk		
Av temp. (°C)	K K. cal/(hr.m-°c)	Av. temp. (°C)	K K. cal/(hr.m-°C)	
37.68	0.33271	38.30	0.31152	
50,37	0.34072	49.90	0.32487	
63.00	0.36431	62.85	0.34735	
75.47	0.39437	79.83	0.39084	
92.49	0.41341	89.79	0.4038s	

References

- Whitaker, R., Sherman, J. M. and Sharp, P. F., Effect of temperature on the viscosity of skim milk. J. Dairy Sci., 1927, 10, 361.
- Taylor, H. B., Some physico-chemical measurements on milk, J. and Proc. Royal Soc. N. S. Wales 47, 174-92, *Chem. Abst.*, 8, 2581, 1914.
- 3. Cox, C. P., Changes with temperature in the viscosity of whole milk. J. Dairy Res., 1953, 19, 72.
- Agrawal, S. P. and Ojha, T. P., Specific heat of concentrated whole milk at higher temperatures. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, 1973, 26 86.
- 5. Evenson, O. L. and Ferris, L., The viscosity of natural and remade milk, J. Dairy Sci. 1924, 7, 174.
- Fernandez-Martin, F., Influence of temperature and composition on some physical properties of milk and milk concentration. I. Heat capacity. J. Dairy Res. 1972, 39, 65.
- Fernandez-Martin, F., Influence of temperature and composition on some physical proprties of milk and milk concentration. II. Viscosity. J. Dairy Res., 1972, 39, 75.

- 8. Rishoi, A. H. and Sharp, P. F., Specific heat and physical state of the fat in cream. J. Dairy Sci., 1938, 21, 399.
- 9. Dickerson, R. W. Jr., An apparatus for the measurement of thermal diffusivity of foods. J. Fd Technol., 1969, 19, 880.
- Anon, A brief note on soymilk/beverage process. G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology, Pantnagar.
- Kaye, G. W. C. and Higgins, W. F. Proc. Roy. Soc. 1928, 117, 459 (cited in: Engineering Heat Transfer by S. T. Hsu, D. Van Nostrand Company Inc., New York, 1963).
- Lal, R. R., Siripurapu, S. C. B. and Singh, B. P. N. Physical properties of Cow milk and Buffalo milk. J. Agric. Engg., 1978, 15, 37.
- 13. Rosenbaum, E. J., *Physical Chemistry*. Appleton Century Crafts. 1970.
- Charm, S. E., *The Fundamentals of Food Engineering*, AVI Publishing Co., Westport, Connecticut, 1971, 164.
- 15. Heldman, D. R., *Food Process Engineering*. AVI Publishing Co. Westport, Connecticut, 1975.
- Siebel, J. E., Specific heat of various products. *Ice Refrig.* 1892, 2, 256 (cited in: *Food Process Engineering* by D. R. Heldman, AVI Publishing Co., Westport, Connecticut, 1975).

Studies on Chemical Characteristics and Nitrate Nitrogen Content of a Few Cultivars of Tomato in Relation to Tin Pick up by Canned Juice*

L. V. KULWAL

Department of Horticulture, Punjabrao Krishi Vidyapeeth, Akola, India

M. V. PATWARDHAN

Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore, India

and

U. V. SULLADMATH

Department of Horticulture, University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore, India

Received 15 April 1985; revised 20 June 1986

Nine cultivars—'Pusa Ruby', 'Sioux', 'Ogasta', 'Gemed', 'Punjab Chhuhara', 'NMR', 'Punjab Kesari', 'Sanmerzano' and 'Roma' were grown during different seasons at Kukkerhalli Farm, Mysore. Ripe fruits of first harvest were analysed for pH, acidity, ascorbic acid, total sugars, viscosity, alcohol insoluble solids, lycopene and nitrate nitrogen. Juices of first five cultivars were canned in 1 lb jam plain cans having a coating of 1 lb/base box (E 100) and tin pick-up studied. Cultivars differed widely in acidity, ascorbic acid, total sugars, viscosity and lycopene content. Seasonal variation in chemical composition was also observed. Slight increase in acidity, ascorbic acid and decrease in sugars were obterved in September harvests compared to January harvests. In none of the cultivars, nitrate nitrogen content exceeded 1 p.p.m. in any season. Tin pick-up by canned juice of different cultivars at the end of 90 days storage at 37°C was in the range of 43 to 60 p.p.m.

Tomato juice and whole fruits are generally canned in in addition, stability of ascorbic acid is better.² Some plain cans as the atoma and taste are better retained¹; times, during storage, corrosion of plain cans results in

^{*}Part of Ph.D. thesis submitted by the Senior author (L. V. K.) to the University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore.

dissolution of tin in the product giving it a metallic taste. Occasionally, the tin pick-up exceeds the limit laid down under Fruit Product Order. Corrosion of tin plate may be due to constituents of raw material used, process variables, tin plate quality and can size.³ Nitrate is one such constituent of tomato which accelerates the corrosion at a very fast rate. This is especially so if the pH is below 5.54,5. To prevent the heavy tin dissolution in canned tomato products, use of tomato fruits having less than 3 p.p.m. nitrate nitrogen concentration is suggested². Nitrate accumulation in plants is influenced by genetic make-up of the plant, locality and nutrition⁶. In United States of America, a number of cases of severe and erratic detinning in canned tomato and other vegetables led to organization of a collaborative research programme on the problem.⁷

Present studies were undertaken to ascertain the variability in chemical characteristics and nitrate content of some leading cultivars of tomato. Tin pick-up by canned juice of a few cultivars was also studied.

Materials and Methods

Nine cultivars of tomato 'NMR', 'Pusa Ruby', 'Sioux', 'Punjab Kesri', 'Ogasta', 'Gemed', 'Sanmerzano', 'Roma' and 'Punjab Chhuhara' were grown during different seasons at Kukkerhalli Farm, Mysore. Fertilizers were applied at the rate of N, $100 \text{ kg} + P_2O_5$ 100 kg and K_2O 60 kg/ha. Phosphorus and potash were applied through single super phosphate and muriate of potash respectively, six days before transplanting while nitrogen was applied through urea in three split doses as follows: (i) 20 per cent within ten days of transplanting, (ii) 40 per cent after 20 days of transplanting, and (iii) 40 per cent after 40 days of transplanting.

Estimation of certain quality attributes: Fruits of first harvest were analysed for quality attributes such as pH, total solids, acidity, ascorbic acid, lycopene and nitrate nitrogen content. Red fruits of uniform size and shape formed the sample. Each sample contained not less than ten fruits. Each observation is the mean of a minimum of two samples.

Canned studies: Juices of cultivars 'Pusa Ruby', 'Punjab Chhuhara', 'Sioux', 'Ogasta' and 'Gemed' were extracted by hot break method and canned in 1 lb jam size plain cans having a tin costing of 1 lb/base box (E-100).

Titrable acidity and alcohol insoluble solids were estimated using A.O.A.C. methods⁸. pH was determined using digital pH meter. 2-6-dichlorophenol indophenol visual titration method was employed for determination of ascorbic acid⁹. Sugars were estimated by Lane and Eynon's method⁸. Lycopene content was determined by the method of Beerh and Siddappa¹⁰. Viscosity was measured by using Brooke-field Synchrolectric Viscometer. Nitrate nitrogen was determined using cadmium column method¹¹. Tin was estimated by the method of McKenzie¹² with modifications suggested by Gowramma *et al.*¹³.

		TABLE 1.	CHEMICA	L COMPOSITI	ON OF SOME	TOMATO	CULTIVARS			
Cultivar	Season	pH	Titrat- able	Ascorbic acid	Suga	ars	Sugar/ acid	Visco- sity	Alcohol insoluble	Lycopene (mg/100g)
			acidity (%)	(mg/100g)	reducing (%)	total (%)	ratio	(centi- poise)	solids (%)	
'NMR'	Sept. 1978	3.95	0.63	19.50	1.96	2.07	3.29	90	0.63	4.95
'Pusa Ruby'	Sept. 1978	4.00	0.59	23.40	2.65	2.86	4.85	160	0.85	5.71
,,	Jan. 1980	4.00	0.58	20.20	2.88	3.02	5.21	185	*	5.84
'Sioux'	Sept. 1978	4.10	0.48	17.50	2.42	2.75	5.73	75	0.60	5.56
,,	Jan. 1980	4.05	0.43	19.00	2.55	2.78	6.47	195	*	5.68
'Punjab Kesri'	Sept. 1978	4.13	0.51	15.53	2.98	3.08	6.04	415	1.16	5.84
'Ogasta'	Sept. 1978	4.18	0.43	22.40	2.78	2.91	6.77	380	1.02	5.80
,,	Jan. 1980	4.20	0.39	18.55	2.85	2.98	7.64	400	*	5,62
'Gemed'	Sept. 1978	4.20	0.41	15.77	2.65	2.74	6.68	310	1.10	6.10
,,	J an. 1980	4.20	0.38	16.80	2.77	2.88	7.58	285	*	5.85
'San marzano'	Sept. 1978	4.22	0.46	15.98	1.95	2.21	4.80	310	*	5,75
'Roma'	Sept. 1978	4.25	0.40	16.00	2,98	3.17	5.92	*	*	6.15
'Punjab Chhuhara'	Sept. 1978	4.26	0.40	16.10	2.67	2.81	7.02	395	1.19	5.69
**	Jan. 1980	4.30	0.37	14.50	2.74	2.85	7.70	430	*	5.76
*=Not analysed										

Results and Discussion

Table 1 shows the chemical composition of the different cultivars. Excepting 'Pusa Ruby' (0.58 per cent) and 'NMR' (0.63 per cent), all other cultivars had acidity in the range of 0.4-0.5 per cent. pH of juices among different cultivars ranged from 3.95 in cv. 'NMR' to 4.25 in cv. 'Roma'. The consistency of juice of cv. 'Pusa Ruby', 'Sioux' and 'NMR' was thinner and these were also observed to be low in alcohol insoluble solids content. Excepting these, fruits of all other cultivars were either pear or oval shaped. Similar observations have been made in a few other cultivars by Roy and Choudhuri.¹⁴ Except 'NMR' and 'Sanmerzano', fruits of all other cv. contained total sugars of 2.90 ± 0.17 per cent. Reducing sugars constituted the major portion of total sugars; non-reducing sugars formed about 10 per cent in most of the cultivars. Lycopene content was higher in cv. 'Roma' and 'Gemed'.

Seasonal variation in some quality attributes was also evident in all the cultivars. In general, slight increase in acidity, ascorbic acid and decrease in sugars was observed in the fruits of the September harvest. In almost every cv, sugar/acid ratio of juice was higher for January harvest. Long photoperiod is known to favour increase in sugar content of the fruit September was marked by cloudy weather and low sunlight. High increase in soluble solids and fall in acidity in respect of spring tomatoes have been reported by Saimbi¹⁵ in a few cv. under Punjab conditions.

None of the cv. under study in different seasons accumulated nitrate in excess of 1 p.p.m. (Table 2). Only 'Pusa Ruby' and 'Sioux' were found to contain nitrate in all the seasons. In other cv. the pattern was not consistent. From these studies in different seasons under prevalent conditions, it can be concluded that none of the cultivars has a tendency to accumulate high nitrate in fruits.

RIPE FRUITS GRC	OF DIFFERENT	CULTIVARS OF T	'OMATOES S			
Cultivar	May 1978	Sept. 1978	J an 1980			
'NMR'	0	*	*			
'Pusa Ruby'	+	0.5	0.7			
'Sioux'	0.7	0.5	1.0			
'Punjab Kesri'	+	0.5	*			
'Ogasta'	+	+	0.7			
'Gemed'	0	0.7	0			
'San merzano'	0	+	*			
'Roma'	0.4	+	*			
'Punjab Chhuhara'	+	+	+			
+=<0.4 ppm	* Not analysed.					

	Тав	LE 3. ANA	LYSIS OF CAN	N.D TOMATO	JUICE OF DIFFEI	RENT CULTIVA	RS	
Cultivar	Storage period (days)	Can content	Vacuum (inch/Hg)	рН	Viscosity (cp)	NO3N (ppm)	Tin (ppm)	Can interior
'Pusa Ruby'	0	338	12.5	4.00	160	0.7	XX	Normal
	30	338	13.0			-	35	VLF
	60	342	12.0				48	VLF
	90	340	11.0	4.00	110	_	55	LF
'Punjab Chhuhara'	0	340	13.0	4.30	430	+	XX	Normal
•	30	340	12.0				24	VLF
	60	341	11.5				35	VLF
	90	345	11.0	4.25	340		46	VLF
'Sioux'	0	340	13.0	4.15	95	1.0	xx	Normal
	30	338	12.5			+	36	VLF
	60	338	11.0				52	LF
	90	340	10.5	4.10	65	—	60	VLF
'Ogasta'	0	340	12.5	4.15	410	0.7	XX	Normal
	30	345	12.0				28	VLF
	60	345	12.0				44	VLF
	90	342	9.5	4.15	330	_	56	LF
'Gemed'	0	345	12.5	4.20	310		XX	Normal
	30	345	13.0			—	20	VLF
	60	342	12.0			_	29	VLF
	90	340	11.0	4.15	195	—	43	VLF
	1 lb jam (E 100)	cans were us	ed and stored	i at 37°C.				
XX Not analyze	- · ·		v	I.F - Ver	ry light featheri	ing +		04 ppm.
* — Pooled sam	ples of two cans	analysed for	tin. L	F — Lig	ght feathering.		- N	il.

No substantial loss of vacuum during storage of canned juice was observed (Table 3). Though the cv. differed in their various chemical composition, the differences in respect of tin pick-up by canned juice was very small. In none of the cv., tin pick-up by canned juice was more than 60 p.p.m. at the end of 90 days storage. Tin pick-up of this order after 90 days storage at 37° C is minimal. Initial nitrate nitrogen contents in juices of all the cv. were very low (0–1.00 p.p.m.) to accelerate corrosion. Rapid lowering of consistency could be attributed to degradation of pectin because of higher storage temperature.

Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to the Director, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore for laboratory facilities and Director of Horticulture, Karnataka State for providing field facilities to undertake the work. The kind help of Dr. Mahadeviah, Dr. Eipeson, Mr. N. S. Singh and Mrs. Gowramma of C.F.T.R.I., Mysore during this work is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- Nutting, M. D., Harris, I. G., Feustel, I. C. and Olcott, H. S., Stability of tomato juice and concentrates held at elevated temperature. *Fd Technol.*, 1955, 9, 466.
- 2. Miyazaki, M., Studies on the accumulation of nitrate in tomato fruit for canning. *Scientia Hort.*, 1975, 3, 109.
- 3. Mahadevaiah, M., Internal corrosion of tin plate containers with food products. Indian Fd. Pckr, 1976, 20(2), 9.

Nationality

5. Editor's Name Nationality

to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Address

Address

- Strodtz, N. H. and Henry, R. E., The relation of nitrates in foods to tin plate corrosion. *Fd Technol.*, 1954, 8, 93.
- 5. Farrow, R. P., Lao, N. I. and Kim, E. S., The nitrate detaining reaction in model system. J. Fd Sci., 1970, 35, 818.
- Maynard, D. N., Barker, A. V., Minnoti, P. L. and Peck, N. H., Nitrate accumulation in vegetables. *Adv. Agron.*, 1976, 28, 71.
- Farrow, R. P., Research Programme on can detaining in canned food storage. *Fd Technol.*, 1970, 24, 552.
- Official Methods of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, D. C., 12th Edn., 1975.
- 9. Methods of Vitamin Assay, Association of Vitamin Chemists, Interscience, Publ. London, 1966, 3rd edn., 194.
- Beerh, O. P. and Siddappa, G. S., A rapid spectrophotometric method for detection and estimation of adulterants in tomato Ketchup. *Fd Technol.*, 1959, 13, 414.
- Eipeson, W. E., Mahadevaiah, M., Gowramma, R. V. and Sastry, L. V. L., An improved method for the determination of nitrate and nitrite in fresh and canned fruit and vegetable products. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1974, 11, 209.
- McKenzie, H.A., A volumetric method for the determination of tin in foods. J. Coun. scient. ind. Res. Aust., 1945, 186, 181.
- Gowramma, R. V., Radhakrishnaiah Shetty, G., Mahadevaiah, M., Sastry, M. V., Sastry, L. V. L. and Bhatnagar, H. C., An improvement in the method of ashing of canned foods for the estimation of tin. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1970, 7, 37.
- Roy, S. K. and Chaudhary, B., Studies on Physico-chemical characteristics of a few varieties of tomato in relation to processing. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1972, 9, 151.
- Saimbi, M. S., Seasonal changes in the composition of some tomato varieties. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1970, 7, 39.

Statement about ownership and other particulars about the periodical entitled JOURNAL OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY as required to be published under Rule 8 of the Registration of Newspapers (Central) Rules 1956. FORM IV Place of Publication Mysore City 1. 2. Periodicity of the Publication Bimonthly 3. Printer's Name Dr. T. S. S. Rao (For and on behalf of AFST (I)) Nationality Indian Address DFRL, Mysore-570 011 4. Publisher's Name Dr. T. S. S. Rao (For and on behalf of AFST (1))

Indian

Indian

l, Dr. T. S. S. Rao hereby declare that the particulars given above are true

DFRL, Mysore-570 011 Dr. N. Chandrasekhara

CFTRI, Mysore-570 013

T. S. S. Rao Signature of the Publisher

Changes in Polyphenoloxidase and Other Endogenous Factors During Ripening in Some Banana Varieties

K. S. JAYARAMAN AND M. N. RAMANUJA Defence Food Research Laboratory, Mysore-570 011, India

Received 2 April 1986; revised 4 August 1986

Changes in the polyphenoloxidase (PPO) activity and level, polyphenol content, ascorbic acid and pH were studied during ripening in the pulp tissue of three banana cultivars and correlated them with their enzymatic browning potential. Generally, a combination of factors involving PPO activity and level, ascorbic acid content and pH influenced the browning potential at any particular stage of maturation and the total polyphenol content had no influence. Gel electrophoresis of the partially purified PPO and buffer soluble proteins during ripening revealed varietal differences in changes in PPO isoenzyme and protein patterns. Synthesis of new PPO isoenzymes and proteins and active changes in their pattern were apparent in the preclimacteric and climacteric tissues while the postclimacteric tissues were generally characterised by their breakdown.

Several endogenous chemical parameters are known to influence enzymatic browning in many fruits and vegetable tissues. These include polyphenoloxidase (PPO) activity and level, polyphenol content, ascorbic acid and pH. Besides being influenced by variety, all these controlling factors undergo significant changes during ripening even in the same variety. Further, isoenzyme patterns of some of the oxidative enzymes are reported to change during fruit maturation, with the disappearance of some isoenzymes and the subsequent appearance of new isoenzymes at various stages of ripening, thus suggesting a role for isoenzymes in the ripening process¹,².

We had earlier reported significant differences in the susceptibility to enzymatic browning in five important varieties of ripe banana which were found to be influenced by the PPO activity and level, ascorbic acid content and pH of the pulp, while the total phenolic content had no influence.³ In the present study, changes in the PPO and other important biochemical parameters were determined during ripening in the pulp tissue of three banana varieties and correlated with their browning potential. Changes in PPO isoenzyme patterns and soluble protein patterns were also studied by gel electrophoresis using the partially purified enzymes at various stages of ripeness in these varieties.

Materials and Methods

Raw materials: Following commercially important varieties of banana available in the local market were used in the studies: (i) 'Pachabale' or 'Dwarf cavendish'

(*M. cavendishii*; genome AAA); (ii) 'Poojabale' or 'Poovan' (*M. paradisiaca*; AAB) and (iii) 'Rasabale' or 'Rasthali' (*M. sapidisiaca*; AAB).

Fully mature green fruits were procured and allowed to ripen at room temperature (25-30°C). Samples of pulp tissue were drawn at different stages of ripening based on skin colour, namely: green (raw), yellow green (half ripe), fully yellow (ripe), yellow with brown flecks (fully ripe) and yellow with black patches (over ripe).

Analytical methods: Soluble solids were measured as "Brix using a refractometer, total solids by drying in a vacuum oven, acidity (expressed as anhydrous citric acid) by titration with 0.1 N NaOH, pH using a pH meter, ascorbic acid by the 2, 6-dichlorophenol indophenol titrimetric method⁴, total phenolics (expressed as tannic acid) by the method of Guadagni et al.⁵, PPO by the method of Palmer⁶, and protein by the method of Lowry et al7. Initial brownness and susceptibility of the tissue to enzymatic browning were determined by measuring the per cent diffuse reflectance of the ground pulp initially and after 1 hr with a reflectance meter using magnesium oxide standard to set the instrument to 100 per cent reflectance. The drop in reflectance $(\wedge R)$ occurring in 1 hr was used as a measure of the browning potential.

Partial purification of PPO: Electrophoretic studies were conducted using the enzyme extracted from the pulp tissue at various stages of ripening and then partially purified by acetone precipitation as follows: Pulp (10 g) was homogenised at 0° C in a glass tissue grinder with a teflon pestle with 50 ml of 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0 containing a nonionic detergent (Tween 80) at 1 per cent level. The homogenate was centrifuged at $20,000 \times g$ for 15 min at 0°C. The enzyme was precipitated from the clear supernatant with 1.6 volumes (80 ml) of analar acetone at -20° C and stirred for about 10 min maintaining at -10° C using a bath containing salt-ice freezing mixture. The precipitate was collected by centrifugation at $15,000 \times g$ for 10 min at -10° C and dissolved in 25 ml of 0.01 M phosphate buffer pH 7.0. Atter standing overnight at 0°C, the solution was centrifuged at $20,000 \times g$ for 20 min to remove the inactive residue and the clear supernatant used for electrophoretic separation. It was maintained at 0°C until used.

Gel electrophoresis: Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was carried out by the method of Davis⁸ using glass tubes of 5 mm inner diameter filled to 8 cm with 7.5 per cent polyacrylamide in 0.375 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.9 as the resolving gel⁹ and 10 mM Tris-glycine buffer, pH 8.3 as the electrode buffer. The enzyme sample contained 10 per cent sucrose or glycerol, between 150 and 200 μ g protein and bromophenol blue as tracking dye. It was layered directly on top of the resolving gel. Electrophoresis was carried out at 0-4°C initially with a current of 1.5 mA per tube for about 30 min and subsequently at 2.0 to 2.5 mA per tube for the remainder of the run with the anode at the bottom.

The gels were stained for PPO activity by first equilibrating with 0.1 per cent p-phenylenediamine solution for 30 min and then with 10 mM catechol in buffer for 30 min. Proteins were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue⁹.

Results and Discussion

Soluble and total solids, acidity and pH: Soluble solids and moisture contents showed an increasing trend during ripening. Initially (in the raw stage) there was an increase in the acidity with a concomitant decrease in pH. As ripening progressed, there was a drop in acidity and increase in pH in 'Pachabale' and 'Poojabale' while in 'Rasabale' there was further steady decrease in pH (Table 1).

Ascorbic acid: Ascorbic acid content showed a different trend in 'Pachabale' as compared to the other two varieties. In the former, it was highest in raw and showed a steady decrease with ripening (Table 1). In

Day No.	Ripeness*	pH	Ascorbic acid	Total phenolics	PPO concn.	Browning potential
			(mg/100g)	(mg/100g)	(units/g)	$(\Delta R \ln I hr)$
			'Pachabale'			
1	Raw	5.35	5.00	40	50.0	23
2	HR	4.90	3.00	66	47.5	24
4	Ripe	4.70	1.85	64	92.5	38
6	FR	5.20	1.23	64	105.0	31
8	OR	5.25	1.48	58	65.0	26
			'Poojabale'			
1	Raw	5.01	3.12	352	47.5	13
2	HR	4.40	6.75	536	70.0	14
4	Ripe	4.37	1.87	46	75.0	23
7	FR	4.67	0.90	48	60.0	18
9	OR	5.16	1,28	56	45.0	20
			'Rasabale'			
1	Raw	5,79	2.47	760	47.5	34
2	HR	4.48	9.01	880	62.5	29
3	Ripe	4.40	6.91	58	72.5	20
5	FR	4.12	4.66	61	65.0	12
7	OR	—	4.44	67	45.0	10

TABLE 1. CHANGES IN PPO LEVEL AND OTHER ENDOGENOUS FACTORS IN THE PULP OF SOME BANANA VARIETIES DURING RIPENING

• Stage of ripeness judged by peel colour as follows:

Raw-green; Half ripe (HR)-Yellow green; Ripe-full yellow;

Fully ripe (FR)-yellow with brown flecks; over ripe (OR)-yellow with black patches.

'Poojabale' and 'Rasabale' it increased from raw to half ripe and decreased thereafter in agreement with the data already reported in literature.¹⁰

Total phenolics: Total phenolic content measured as tannic acid remained low and almost the same throughout ripening in 'Pachabale'. The trend was, however, markedly different in the other two varieties which recorded a several fold higher value in the raw and half ripe, then declined sharply to a significantly low value in ripe and remained almost constant thereafter (Table 1). The drop was to about one-eleventh of the half ripe value in 'Poojabale' and to one-fifteenth in 'Rasabale'.

There is no general agreement regarding the trends of tannin content in banana during ripening¹¹. The "active tannin" presumed to be responsible for the astringency of the unripe fruit is reported to fall in the ripe fruit to 1/5th of its value in the green climacteric fruit.¹² The bulk of the tannins is leucoanthocyanin present in the unripe fruit as monomers or oligomers which are condensed to inactive high polymers at ripeness.¹³

PPO activity and soluble proteins: PPO activity and concentration in the pulp generally showed an increase from raw to ripe and declined in over ripe (Table 1). The increase was about 100 per cent in 'Pachabale', 58 per cent in 'Poojabale' and 55 per cent in 'Rasabale'. Buffer soluble proteins showed a steady increase from raw to over ripe. Young¹⁴ had earlier reported no change in the activity of several banana enzymes as the fruit ripened while Montgomery and Sgarbieri¹⁵ found the banana PPO activity, in general, to decrease with ripening in the pulp.

Susceptibility to browning: Susceptibility of the pulp to the enzymatic browning as judged by the drop in per cent reflectance after 1 hr was found to increase from raw to ripe and then decline with further ripening in 'Pachabale' and 'Poojabale' varieties while in 'Rasabale' it showed a steady decrease (Table 1).

Correlating with the changes in other biochemical parameters which influence browning, it was found that generally a combination of factors involving PPO, ascorbic acid and pH influenced the susceptibility of the pulp to browning at any one stage of maturation and no one particular factor could be attributed to exclusively influence browning. Thus, in 'Pachabale' and 'Poojabale' the maximum susceptibility at the ripe stage might be attributed to the maximum activity and level of **PPO** combined with a low level of ascorbic acid. Similarly, the maximum susceptibility of raw pulp in 'Rasabale' might be attributed to the exceptionally high pH of 5.8 in combination with a low ascorbic acid level and moderate PPO activity and level. The steady decrease in the susceptibility observed thereafter with maturation in the latter, in spite of the increase in PPO activity up o ripe, might be attributed again to the drop in pH of the pulp to about 4.5 at which the enzyme exhibits only 6.2 per cent of its activity at pH 7.0^3 and to a sharp increase in ascoibic acid in half ripe. Interestingly, total phenolic content, although noticed to be several fold high in raw and half ripe pulp in two varieties, did not appear to influence browning confirming our earlier findings.³ These results differ from those of Weaver and Charley¹⁶ who reported increase in brownness with ripening in bananas which had no correlation with PPO acitivity.

Changes in PPO isoenzyme and protein electrophoretic patterns: Changes in the PPO isoenzymes and the corresponding protein patterns were studied during ripening by electrophoresis using the partially purified PPO extract from the three banana varieties. Only the patterns obtained with "Pachabale" are given in Fig. 1.

The zymograms revealed some changes in PPO isoenzyme pattern from raw to ripe. Both the PPO isoenzyme and protein bands were generally sharp and clear in raw to ripe but showed tendency to get smudged and diffused with the disappearance of some of the bands and overlapping of others, as the maturation progressed to fully ripe and over ripe stages. This was possibly due to proteolysis and tissue breakdown associated with senescence. This was particularly obvious in 'Pachabale' and 'Rasabale' while in 'Poojabale' the activity and protein patterns were more stable and did not show much of breakdown in over ripe stage in conformity with its longer keeping quality observed.

Considering the isoenzyme patterns of 'Pachabale' PPO during ripening (Fig. 1(a)), it is seen that the fastest moving bands H and I on the zymogram were the only ones seen consistently throughout the maturation process. The bands A to G persisted with almost the same intensity from raw to ripe and then decreased in intensity progressively at fully ripe and over ripe stages. Band A could not be seen in fully ripe and over ripe while D and E showed considerable overlap and smudging in over ripe. An additional band C_1 of low intensity was seen in halt ripe fruits which disappeared with further maturation. Similarly, in 'Rasabale' the bands D, E, F and H were seen consistently throughout. While A was absent in fully ripe and over ripe fruit, B and I were absent in raw but appeared with further maturation. There was overlapping and smudging of bands B and C and disappearance of bands A, G and 9I in over ripe indicating breakdown of some of the isoenzymes.

In 'Poojabale' the bands D to H were seen consistently throughout. Band B was not seen in raw but appeared to develop later while band I was present only in raw and disappeared with subsequent maturation. Band A was absent in half ripe and ripe.



Number of days

Fig 1. Gel electrophoretic (a) isoenzyme and (b) protein patterns of partially purified banana PPO during ripening.

Variety: Pachabale" or Dwarf cavendish (M. cavendishii) INTENSITY: High; $|\overline{I'|I_1I'|I_1}|$ Medium; | Low

Considering the protein patterns of 'Pachabale' (Fig. 1(b)) the pattern was almost identical from raw to ripe after which there was considerable breakdown with disappearance of the bands A, B, C, F and G in fully ripe fruit and further loss of H and I in over ripe fruits. Bands D and E were the only ones seen consistently throughout the maturation process. In 'Rasabale' bands D and G were seen throughout the maturation with equal intensity, while bands A, B and E persisted with varying intensity. Band C was present only in raw and disappeared later while F was absent in raw and over ripe fruits. Band H increased in intensity in half ripe fruit and appeared as two close sharp and clear bands H and I with further maturation. Over maturation was marked by smudging of bands A and B and disappearance of F.

In contrast, the protein pattern of 'Poojabale' PPO extract showed considerable difference with appearance of new bands at E_1 and G_1 with maturation and no smudging indicative of breakdown could be seen in over ripe fruits. The pattern showed some further distinguishing features in that band C was seen with high intensity throughout the maturation while bands A and B were of high intensity in the raw and persisted with lesser intensity throughout.

As seen from the above data, there are varietal differences in the changes in **PPO** isoenzymes and soluble proteins in bananas during ripening and in their breakdown with senescence. Synthesis of new isoenzymes and active changes in their pattern were apparent in the preclimacteric (raw) and climacteric (half ripe and ripe) tissues while postclimacteric tissue was generally characterised by breakdown of the isoenzymes and tissue proteins.

Our results differ from those of Montgomery and Sgarbieri¹⁵ who reported no change in the electrophoretic patterns of **PPO** isoenzymes of banana as it ripened, but are in agreement with those of Cash *et al*², who found the **PPO** isoenzymes in the crude extract of concord grapes to change during ripening. The latter noticed appearance of new bands at late inception and verosion and disappearance of some at verosion to over ripe. Flurkey and Jen¹⁷ likewise reported several apparent forms of **PPO** and constant interchanges of these forms during development of peach fruit.

There is evidence that in banana fruit pulp tissue, the rate of protein synthesis declines progressively from the initiation of the climacteric period¹⁸. This suggests that ripening in banana results primarily from a decline in intracellular organisation and the consequent action of enzyme systems preexisting in the cells¹⁹. Brady *et al.*¹⁹ prepared pulp extracts from banana fruits at six stages of ripeness from preclimacteric (green) to yellow ripe and separated the proteins by gel electrophoresis. The gel pattern indicated a progressive change in the soluble proteins during the climacteric (ripe).

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to Dr. P. K. Vijayaraghavan, former Director, DFRL, Mysore and Prof. C. S. Vaidyanathan, Dept. of Biochemistry, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore for their valuable guidance and helpful suggestions. They also thank Dr. T. R. Sharma, Director, DFRL, Mysore for kind permission to publish this paper.

References

- Frenkel, C., Involvement of peroxidase and indole— 3-acetic acid oxidase isoenzymes from pear, tomato and blue berry fruit in ripening. *Pl. Physiol.*, 1971, 49, 757.
- Cash, J. N., Sistrunk, W. A. and Stutte, C. A., Characteristics of concord grape polyphenoloxidase involved in juice colour loss. J. Fd Sci., 1976, 41, 1398.
- Jayaraman, K. S., Ramanuja, M. N., Dhakne, Y. S. and Vijayaraghavan, P. K., Enzymatic browning in some banana varieties as related to polyphenoloxidase activity and other endogenous factors. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1983, 19, 181.
- 4. Laboratory Manual for Food Canners and Processors, Vol. 2, Analysis, Sanitation and Statistics, National Canners Association Research Laboratories, U.S.A., AVI Publishing Co., Inc., Connecticut, 1968, 199.
- Guadagni, D. G., Sober, D. G. and Wieber, J. S., Enzymatic oxidation of phenolic compounds in frozen peaches. *Fd Technol. Champaign*, 1949, 3, 359.
- Palmer, J. K., Banana polyphenoloxidase—Preparation and properties, Pl. Physiol., 1963, 38, 508.
- Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L. and Randall¹ R. J., Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent, *J. biol. Chem.*, 1951, 193, 265.
- Davis, B. J., Disc electrophoresis, 2. Method and application to human serum proteins. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 1964, 121, 404.

- 9. Gabriel, O., in *Methods in Enzymology* by Jakoby, W. B., Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1971, Vol. 22, 565.
- Von Loesecke, H. W., Bananas-Chemistry, Physiology, Technology, Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York, 1949, 110.
- Simmonds, N. W., Bananas, Longman Green and Co., Ltd., London. 1966, 2nd Edn., 228, 452.
- 12. Barnell, H. R. and Barnell, E., Studies in tropical fruits. XVI. Ann. Bot., Lond., 1945, 9, 77.
- 13. Goldstein, J. and Swain, T., Changes in tannins in ripening fruits. *Phytochemistry*, 1963, 2, 371.
- Young, R. E., Extraction of enzymes from tannin-bearing tissue. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 1965, 111, 174.
- Montgomery, M. W. and Sgarbieri, V. C., Isoenzymes of banana polyphenoloxidase. *Phytochemistry*, 1975, 14, 1245.
- Weaver, C. and Charley, H., Enzymatic browning of ripening bananas. J. Fd Sci., 1974, 39, 1200.
- Flurkey, W. H. and Jen, J. J., Peroxidase and polyphenoloxidase activities in developing peaches. J. Fd Sci., 1978,43, 1826.
- Sachar, J. A., Permeability characteristics and amino acid incorporation during seniscence (ripening) of banana tissue. *Fl. Physiol.*, 1966, 41, 701.
- Brady, C. J., Palmer, J. K., O'Connel, P.B.H. and Smillie, R. M., An increase in protein synthesis during ripening of the banana fruit. *Phytochemistry*, 1970, 9, 1037.

Studies on the Pectin Methylesterase Activity during Cold Storage of 'Patharnakh' Pear

J. S. RANDHAWA, B. S. DHILLON, J. S. BAL AND J. S. BHULLAR

Department of Horticulture, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana-141 004, India

Received 26 February 1985; revised 5 August 1986

The effect of cycocel (2000 and 4000 ppm), gibberellic acid (100 and 200 ppm) Cacl₂ (4 and 6%) and wax emulsion (6 and 9%) treatments and date of harvest on pectin methylesterase activity (PME) during cold storage of 'Pathernakh' pear fruits was investigated. Fruit firmness decreased whereas PME activity increased with the delay in harvest and during storage. Application of 200 ppm gibberellic acid and 4000 ppm cycocel increased the PME activity. The former treatment exhibited the highest PME activity. The date of harvest showed significant effect on fruit firmness and PME activity. Firmness was maximum and PME activity was minimum in the fruits harvested in the second and third week of July.

'Patharnakh' pear (*Pyrus pyrifolia* (Burm) Nakai) is the commercial cultivar of pear in Punjab and is very hardy. Hultin and Levine¹ reported that change in quality banana fruit including softening of the flesh is due to the activity of pectin methylesterase (PME). Nagel and Patterson² reported that PME activity decreased during development of pear. Decline in PME in pears was also observed throughout harvest and during storage³.

The present investigations were undertaken to see

the effect of different treatments and date of harvest on PME and its relation to the softening of 'Patharnakh' pear fruit.

Materials and Methods

The fruits were collected from 14-year-old tree^s growing at the Regional Research Station, Bahadurgarh in Patiala. They were collected randomly from all sides of the trees at weekly intervals over a 22-day period beginning from July 22 in 1980 and July 15 in 1981. The fruits were kept in the cold storage, after giving the following treatments:

(1) Cycocel (CCC) 2000 and 4000 ppm, (2) gibberellic acid (GA) 100 and 200 ppm, (3) calcium chloride (CaCl₂) 4 and 6 per cent, (4) wax emulsion 6 and 9 per cent.

Thirty fruits were dipped separately for 2 min. in cycocel, gibberellic acid and wax emulsion, but only for 30 min in CaCl₂. Tween-80 was used as sticker. Ten fruits were packed in each polythene bag of 100 gauge having $35 \text{ cm} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ size with 30 perforations. These were punched (one hole in each of 2.5 to 3 sq.cm area) to facilitate gas exchange. Each treatment comprised 3 bags having 30 fruits and these bags were closed by stapling. These polythene bags were placed in ventilated wooden crates and were kept in a cold storage at temperature 0 to 3.3° C and relative humidity of 85-90 per cent. The fruits were removed after 100 days in cold storage and were analysed for PME activity.

Preparation of extract: For enzyme extraction, the fruit samples were stored immediately after harvest in a freezer at 0°C. Two g fruit pulp was subsequently ground in a chilled mortar with 10 ml of phosphate buffer (pH 6.5, 0.1 M). Polyvinyl pyrolidine was added along with the extraction buffer to avoid inactivation of the enzyme by the phenolic constituents. The extracts were centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min in a refriger-ated centrifuge at 0°C and the enzyme activity determined immediately.

The method of Dingle *et al.*⁴ was followed for the estimation of PME by measuring the increase in acidity after hydrolysis of pectin by the enzyme preparation. The PME activity was calculated as the micro or milli equivalents of methoxyl groups liberated per hr by one ml of the enzyme preparation under specified conditions of assay. Total soluble proteins were estimated by the method of Lowry *et al.*⁵

Firmness: Fruit firmness was measured with the help of "Fruit Tester" Penetrometer (made in Italy) after removing about one square inch of skin. The diameter of the tip of the punch was 0.8 cm.

Results and Discussion

Pectin methylesterase: The PME activity as affected by different treatments and date of harvest for two fruiting seasons is given in Tables 1 and 2. Post-harvest

TABLE	1. EF	FECT O	F DIFFE	RENT 7	TREAT N	IENTS	ON	THE
PECTIN	METHY	LESTER	ase (pr	AE) ACT	TVITY	AND	FIRM	INESS
OF	FRUITS	AFTER	100 r	DAYS OI	F COLD	STOP	RAGE	1

		PN	Æ			
Treatmen	t	(meq) prot	'hr/mg tein)	Firmness (kg/in²)		
Chemicals	Concn (ppm /%)	1980	1981	1980	1981	
CCC	2000	0.011	0.013	6.47	7.70	
CCC	4000	0.013	0.016	6.30	7.64	
GA	100	0.012	0.012	6.52	7.94	
GA	200	0.015	0.016	6.26	7.40	
CaCl ₂	4%	0.010	0.012	5.90	7.58	
CaCl ₂	6%	0.012	0.014	6.19	7.67	
Wax Emulsion	6%	0.011	0.012	5.90	7.35	
Wax Emulsion	9%	0.007	0.009	5.21	6.99	
Control		0.009	0.010	5.31	7.25	
C.D at 5%		0.004	N.S.	0.38	0.37	

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF DATE OF HARVEST ON THE PECTIN METHYLESTERASE (PME) ACTIVITY AND FIRMLESS OF FRUITS AFTER 100 DAYS OF COLD STORAGE

Harvest date	PME (mee	q/hr/mg :in)	Firmness (kg/in ²)		
	0	100	0	100	
	1	980			
July 22	0.002	0.005	8.85	6.39	
July 29	0.004	0.008	8.70	6.01	
August 5	0.007	0.013	8.50	5.86	
August 12	0.008	0.018	8.27	5.76	
C.D at 5% (d.f. 16)		0.003		0.25	
	19	981			
July 15	0.001	0.007	9.00	7.81	
July 22	0.005	0.010	8.87	7.64	
July 29	0.008	0.015	8.67	7.40	
August 5	0.009	0.019	8.40	7.15	
C.D at 5% (d.f. 16)		0.005		0.24	

treatment of fruits with CCC, GA, CaCl₂ and 6 per cent wax emulsion resulted in more activity than in the control samples after 100 days of cold storage. The highest activity was recorded with 200 ppm GA followed by 4000 ppm CCC and 6 per cent CaCl₂ treatments whereas that with 9 per cent wax emulsion recorded lower activity than the control. The probable reason for low activity in the 9 per cent wax emulsion and control treatment is the rotting of the fruits under these treatments. A decrease in PME activity in the senescent tissue of 'Barlett' pear fruit was reported by Ahmed and Labavitch⁶. Nagel and Patterson² also reported similar results on pears. In the present study, the increase in PME activity during cold storage is, however, not in agreement with the results reported by Ben-Arie et al³. who observed 4-5 times increase in polygalacturonase activity but decrease in the PME activity in 'Spadona' pear after 15 weeks of cold storage.

The date of harvest significantly affected the PME activity during both years of the study. The PME activity increased with the delay in the date of harvesting during 1980 and as also after 100 days of cold storage during both years under study (Table 2).

Fruit firmness: The fruit firmness decreased with the delay in harvest and during cold storage with the increased PME activity (Tables 1 and 2). Reduction in the flesh firmness of 'Patharnakh' pear with the preand post-harvest application of CaCl₂ and post-harvest application of CCC, GA and wax emulsion was also observed by Bhullar *et al.*⁷ Date of harvest exhibited a significant effect on fruit firmness which decreased with delay in the harvest during both years of the study. Keeping the fruit for 100 days in cold storage resulted in decreased fruit firmness. Similar results have been reported in case of 'Anjou' pear⁸ and in 'Moltke' pear; the fruit firmness after removal from the storage decreased with the delay in harvest⁹. The best time for harvesting 'Patharnakh' pear for cold storage appears to be the second fortnight of July.

References

- 1. Hultin, H. O. and Levine, A. S., Pectin methylesterase in the ripening banana. J. Fd Sci., 1965, 30, 917.
- Nagel, C. W. and Patterson, M. E., Pectin enzymes and development of the pear (*Pyrus communis*). J. Fd Sci., 1967, 32, 294.
- Ben-Arie, R., Sonego, L. and Frenkel, C., Changes in pectic substances in ripening pears. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci., 1979, 109, 500.
- Dingle, J., Reid, W. W. and Solomons, G. L., The enzymic degradation of pectin and other polysaccharides. II. Application of the "Cup Plate" assay to the estimation of enzymes. J. Sci. Fd Agric., 1953, 4, 149.
- Lowry, D. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L. and Randall, J. L., Protein measurement with folin-phenol reagent. J. biol. Chem., 1951, 193, 265.
- Ahmed, A. E. R. and Labavitch, I. M., Cell wall metabolism in ripening fruit. II. Changes in carbohydrates degrading enzymes in ripening Bartlett pears. *Pl. Physiol.*, 1980, 65, 1014.
- Bhullar, J. S., Dhillon, B. S. and Randhawa, J. S., Effect of pre-and post-harvest treatments on the cold storage life of Patharnakh pear fruits. *Abstracts of the Symposium*, *'Recent Advances in Fruits Development'*, held at PAU, Ludhiana 1981, 14-16 Dec. 76.
- Chen, P. M. and Mellenthin, N. M., Effect of harvest date on ripening capacity and post-harvest life of 'd' Anjou pears. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci., 1981, 106, 38.
- Kvale, A., The effect of different harvest dates on shelf life and quality of Moltke' pears. Acta Agric. scand., 1977, 27, 326.

Milk Scale Deposition on Heated Surface Under Laminar Flow

B. C. SARKAR, B. P. N. SINGH AND MAHARAJ NARAIN

Centre of Advanced Studies in Post Harvest Technology, G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology, Pantnagar-263 145, India

Received 30 September 1985; accepted 10 July 1986

Milk scale deposition on heated surface under laminar flow conditions was studied. The experimental system consisted of an electrically heated stainless steel section of 22.86 mm diameter fitted concentrically to a 25.4 mm diameter glass tube. Experiments were conducted on fresh cow's milk. Results have shown that the deposition of milk began after an average induction period of 12.18 min. The rate of deposition decreased exponentially with increase in Reynolds number. The thermal conductivity and density of milk scale were also evaluated and the values were 0.0043 W/m-K and 1.3889 g/cm³ respectively. The milk scale contained 35-40 per cent protein, 12-13 per cent fat and 22 per cent ash.

When milk is heated in heat exchangers, deposits siderable interest to the dairy industry. If the routine form on the hot surfaces. These deposits are of con- cleaning is not adequate to remove the deposits, they

build up and form a hard layer, generally called scale. Removal of the scale is an important and difficult part of cleaning operation, and if not removed, it becomes the common source of high thermoduric count of pasteurised milk. Furthermore, scales are known to constrict the flow passage, thereby resulting in higher pressure drop and reduced product flow rate. In addition, the rate of heat transfer is greatly reduced. Quantitative relationship defining the deposition of milk solids and formation of scale as a function of operating parameters including time are, however, lacking. The effect of such deposits is usually neglected in designing milk processing equipment. This assumption may lead to poor performance of the equipment under most of the practical situations. All these effects of milk scale deposits on heating surface can, however, be better understood if the deposition rate kinetics is fully known. But it is difficult to study the rate kinetics and variables involved in deposition process in a commercial plant where thousands of litres of milk are processed everyday. Most of the studies conducted in this area pertain to static conditions. Information on milk solids deposition on heated surface under dynamic conditions of flow is limited¹⁻³. As a first step towards a better understanding of the fouling process under dynamic conditions, an investigation was carried out and this paper describes the results of such an investigation.

Materials and Methods

The experimental setup consisted of test section, feed tank, variable speed pump, dimerstat, voltmeter, microvotlmeter, thermoflask, manometer and a multimeter (Fig. 1). In most of the milk processing plants, plate heat exchangers are widely used. It is, however, difficult to fabricate the laboratory model of plate heat exchanger since it requires special type of facilities for making and assembling the plates. Therefore, experimental set up with annular heating section was preferred. The experimental set up was so designed that (i) thickness of the annular flow passage was equal to the gap generally maintained between two plates of a plate heat exchanger³, (ii) calming zone with length greater than fifty times the equivalent diameter of the annulus was available to ensure fully developed flow conditions in the test section, (iii) the heating surface both for the test section and calming zone was made of stainless steel, and (iv) the system permitted easy dismantling and assembling and also visual observation of the flow in the test section.

The test section consisted of an electrically heated stainless steel tube of 22.86 mm outer diameter fitted on the central axis of a 25.4 mm inner diameter glass tube. This gave an annular clearance of 1.27 mm. Heating in the test section was done through an electric



Fig 1. Detailed dimensions of the heating section

heating rod of length 22.6 mm placed concentrically inside the heating section.

All the experiments were conducted on fresh cow's milk. The system was first allowed to stabilize at the desired operating conditions by circulating distilled water through the system which took about 10-15 min. In the actual experiment, milk preheated to 343 K was used. The duration of each test run was in the neighbourhood of 100 min.

Milk inlet and outlet temperatures were measured using mercury-in-glass thermometers. Difference between the inlet and outlet temperatures varied from 1.1 to 4.8 K. Wall temperatures on the inner surface of heating section were measured through copperconstant thermocouples. The temperature of the surface in contact with milk was calculated using the relationship,

$$T_o = T_1 - \frac{P\left(\ln \frac{r_2}{r_1}\right)}{2LK\pi} \quad . \quad . \quad (1)$$

where,

- $T_o = outer$ surface temperature, K
- T_1 =inner surface temperature, K
- P=power supplied, W
- r₂, r₁=outer and inner radii of stainless steel tube, m k=thermal conductivity of stainless steel, W/m-k L=length of heating section, m.

The average difference between the heating surface and milk temperature in the test section ranged from 22.9 to 32.9 K. The mass flow rate of milk was regulated through a stainless steel valve fitted in the outflow line of the sanitary pump feeding the system. The rate of flow was measured by collecting the milk in a weighed glass container over a known period of time. Eight levels of milk flow rates in the range of 42 to 157 kg/hrwere selected. The upper limit of the flow rate corresponds to a Reynolds number of 1555 which ensured that the flow was always in the laminat region. The pressure drop through the system was measured using a U-tube monometer. All observations were recorded at an interval of 10 min.

The deposits were collected after each test run and weighed. The length and thickness of deposit layer were also measured. The deposits were analysed by AOAC⁴ methods.

Results and Discussion

Mean

Nature of deposits: The milk solids deposited on the heating surface formed a thin layer and were creamy white in colour. These deposits, however, did not form over the entire length of the test section. The length and thickness of deposit layer varied with the mass flow rate of milk (Table 1). Maximum thickness was in the middle and the variation in the deposit thickness was very small from the middle towards either end of the test section. The representative thickness of deposits was taken to be the average of the thickness measured at three points i.e. middle and at the ends. The deposits were collected after each test run and weighed. They were also analysed for chemical composition and contained (in per cent) 35-40 protein, 12-13 fat and 22 ash; ash contained 25 per cent calcium and 15 per cent magnesium.

Pressure drop: Milk deposits constricted the narrow flow passage and resulted in increase in pressure drop. For an initial period of 10 to 15 min the pressure drop remained constant. Beyond this, there was a progressive increase in the pressure drop, which was measured at constant mass flow rate. This is in agreement with the findings of Burton⁵ and Thom⁶. An equation could be derived to calculate the deposit layer thickness from the pressure drop measurements. Using the expressions of Bird *et al*⁷, for average velocity and mass flow rate in steady state incompressible fluid flow through an annulus, the expression for Reynolds number in terms of mass flow tate is

Where,

Qm=mass flow rate

R=inner radius of outer tube

 $\mu =$ viscosity of liquid

 $\in =$ a dimensionless parameter

The quantity $R \in$ represents the gap thickness of the annulus. As deposits occur, this gap is reduced i.e. \in decreases. Thus, \in becomes a measure of deposit thickness. Clearly, $R \in$ is a function of time because of \in .

For laminar flow, fliction factor f, is a known function of Re i.e.

$$f = \frac{16}{Re}$$

and can be calculated using the following equation derived from the equations reported by Bird *et al*⁷.

Reynolds	Density of milk	Thermal con-	Deposi	Induction period	
(Re ₀)	scale (g/cm ³)	milk scale ($K_d \times 10^{-3}$) ($W/m-k$)	Thickness (mm)	Length (cm)	(min.)
428,72	1.2640	5.77	0.220	12.7	11.77
515.99	1.3491	3,95	0.175	12.0	12.29
750,44	1.3912	3.71	0.125	11.2	12.31
851.28	1.5000	4.90	0.095	10.5	17.28
955.44	1.3041	5.16	0.085	10.2	10.66
1073.38	1,3782	4.78	0.056	10.0	13.89
1438.47	1.3711	3.89	0.023	9.5	9.51
1554.37	1.5521	2.51	0.019	9.0	9.73
	1.38891	4.33	_	_	12.18

TABLE 1. CHARACTERISTICS OF MILK DEPOSITED INFLUENCED BY REYNOLDS NUMBER

(9)

$$f = \frac{\mathbf{R} \mathbf{\epsilon} \Delta \mathbf{P}}{\mathbf{\rho} \mathbf{V}^2} \qquad \qquad . \qquad . \qquad . \qquad (4)$$

where,

 $\triangle P$ =pressure drop per unit length, N/m²

V=average velocity of milk flow, m/s

$$\beta = \text{density of milk, } kg/m^3$$

In terms of mass flow rate.

$$f = \frac{\pi^2 \mathcal{O} \bigtriangleup p \mathbb{R}^5 \in {}^3(2 - \varepsilon)^2}{\Omega^2 m} \qquad (5)$$

For the initial condition when scale thickness is zero,

$$f_o = \frac{\pi^2 ? \triangle p_o R^5 \in o^3 (2 - \varepsilon_o)^2}{Q^2 m} \qquad (6)$$

The variation of friction factor f_o with Reynolds number for clean surface has been shown in Fig. 2. The data could be represented by eq. (3). This confirms that the flow was fully developed laminar flow.

Combining equations (3) and (5)

$$\Delta \mathbf{P} = \frac{\mathbf{F}}{\mathbf{\epsilon}^{3}(2-\mathbf{\epsilon})} \qquad \qquad \dots \qquad (7)$$

Where F is defined as

$$F = \frac{8\mu Qm}{8\pi R^4}$$

Since for each experiment Q_m was fixed and temperature variation was small, F could be taken as constant. For initial conditions,

$$\Delta \mathbf{P}_{o} = \frac{\mathbf{F}}{\mathbf{\epsilon}_{o}^{3}(2 - \mathbf{\epsilon}_{o})}$$

or
$$\frac{\Delta \mathbf{P}_{o}}{\Delta \mathbf{P}} = \frac{\mathbf{\epsilon}^{3}(2 - \mathbf{\epsilon})}{\mathbf{\epsilon}_{o}^{3}(2 - \mathbf{\epsilon}_{o})} \qquad (8)$$

For clean surface, $\in_o = 0.1$. The value of \in corresponding to the maximum deposit, was found to be 0.084. Since the factor $(2-\epsilon)/(2-\epsilon_0)$ is almost unity the eq (8) modifies to



Fig 2. Variation of friction factor (f) with Reynolds number

The equation (9), therefore, gives an indirect measure of deposit thickness.

Deposition kinetics: From measurements on pressure drop, the time variation of $\in |\in_{0}$ was known. The variation of $(1-\epsilon)$ R could be calculated. The average value of density of scale S_d was calculated from the known values of mass and volume of deposits. Knowing the average value of P_d , the variation of mass deposited per unit length on the surface could be represented by

$$\mathbf{M} = \pi \mathbf{R}^{2} \, \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{d} \left[\, (1 - \epsilon)^{2} - (1 - \epsilon_{c})^{2} \, \right] \, . \, . \, . \, . \, (10)$$

Where M is the mass deposited per unit length.

The quantity M when plotted against time yielded a linear relationship. It is clearly evident that upto an initial period of 10 to 15 min, there was no significant change in M with time. This period has been termed as induction period⁸. The induction period for the different mass flow rates was not the same. The values changed randomly from 9.51 to 17.28 min. An average value of 12.18 was used in subsequent analysis. Using this average value, a variable $Z = (\theta - \theta_0)$ was defined. In terms of Z

$$\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{m}\mathbf{Z} \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad (11)$$

Where m is the mass rate of deposition per unit length.

The relationship is shown in Fig. 3. The effect of Re on mass rate of deposition per unit length has been shown in Fig. 4 which followed the relationship

 $m = 0.0512 \exp(-0.00188 \text{ Re}_{o})$ (12)

Mass flux: Mass flux of the deposits, per unit length i.e. Jm, which is an important parameter in quantitative estimation of scale deposits could be computed as follows. By fundamental definition



Fig 3. Kinetics of milk solids deposition at an average surface temperature of 365.11 K



Fig 4. Variation of mass rate of milk solids deposit with Reynolds number

mass rate/unit length jm=surface area of deposition

$$=\frac{m}{2\pi R(1-\epsilon)} \qquad \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad (13)$$

From equation (8) and (9), $R(1-\epsilon)$ becomes

$$\mathbf{R}(1-\epsilon) = \left[\frac{\mathbf{m}Z}{\pi \, \mathcal{C}_d} + \mathbf{R}^2 (1-\epsilon_o)^2\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

or jm = $\frac{\mathbf{m}}{(\mathbf{Bm}Z+\mathbf{C})^{\frac{1}{2}}}$ (14)

where B and C are constants as given below

$$B = \frac{4\pi}{\varsigma_d} = 0.009$$

C = $4\pi^2 R^2 (1 - \epsilon_o)^2 = 51.576$

Thermal conductivity of milk scale.

An approach has been suggested for computation of the thermal conductivity of milk scale. For this, heat transfer coefficient was calculated using the basic heat transfer equation

$$h = \frac{q}{A(\Delta t) \ln} \qquad (15)$$

where,

h=heat transfer coefficient, W/m^2-K

q=heat flow into milk, W

- A=heat transfer surface area, m²
- $(\Delta t) \ln = \log mean temperature difference, K$

Due to formation of scale heat transfer coefficient, h increased with time. The time variation of h obeyed the equation

$$\frac{1}{h} = \frac{1}{h_o} + \frac{mZ}{2\pi R (1 - \epsilon_o) \varsigma_d k_d} \quad . \quad . \quad . \quad (16)$$

where k_a is the thermal conductivity of milk scale W/m-k.

From plots of 1/h versus Z in terms of Eq (16), values of 1/h_o and k_d could be computed. The value of h_o being a function of Re, is different for different set. But k_d , being a property of material deposited, must be the same for all experimental runs. In practice, the calculated values of k_d fluctuated slightly with an average value of 0.0043 W/m-k. None of the earlier studies on milk scale formation have reported the thermal conductivity of scale. Therefore, the value of k_d could not be cross-checked.

Milk solids deposition kinetics on heated surface under laminar flow in the present case, has shown that the deposition begins after an average induction period of 12.18 min. The developed equation for evaluating the deposit layer thickness, which is based on pressure drop measurement, is very simple and can be tried for other types of surface configurations. The mass flux equation derived using the induction period concept gives a quantitative estimation of scale deposition on the surface. The estimated values of thermal conductivity provides information on one of the important input parameters for design of heat exchangers.

References

- Bixby, D. G., Fouling of heat exchanger surfaces by skim milk. Dissert. Abst. Int. B., 1974, 35, 1287.
- Burton, H., Deposits from whole milk in treatment plant a review and discussion. J. Dairy Res., 1968, 35, 317.
- Tulsidas, T. N., Performance of plate heat exchanger in a commercial pasteurization of milk plant. 1979, M.Tech Thesis, G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology.
- 4. Methods of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Agricultural Chemists, Washington, DC, 1965, 10th edn.
- Burton, H., A comparison between a hot wire laboratory apparatus and a plate heat exchanger for determining the sensitivity of milk deposit formation. J. Dairy Res., 1966, 33, 317.
- 6. Thom, R., Effect of milk deposit on plate pasteurizer output. Roczniki Inst. Przemyslu Mleczarskiego, 1976, 18, 17.
- Bird, B. B., Stewart, W. E. and Lightfoot, E. N., Transport Phenomena, John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York, 1960,
- Ling, A. C. and Lund, D. B., Fouling of heat transfer surfaces by solution of egg albumin. J. Fd Prot., 1978. 41, 187.

Meat Yields and Quality Characteristics of Meat from Spent Hens of White Leghorn and Rhode Island Red Breeds

N. KONDAIAH, B. PANDA* AND A. S. R. ANJANEYULU

Division of Livestock Products Technology, Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Izatnagar-243 122, India

Received 2 December 1985; revised 7 July 1986

Meat yields and quality characteristics of deboned meat from spent hens of 'White Leghorn' (WL) (light) and 'Rhode Island Red' (RIR) (heavy) breeds were compared. RIR yielded significantly higher deboned meat than WL (light) and WL heavy type (equal live weight as that of RIR). WL heavy type yielded significantly higher fat content than the other types. The most economic components, deboned meat and total edible meat could be well predicted from either live or dressed weights which are highly correlated in both the breeds. Deboned meat from RIR showed significantly higher water holding capacity, emulsifying capacity and lower collagen content than WL. Due to the higher meat yield and better quality, RIR spent hens should demand better price than WL in the market.

Availability of spent hens belonging to different breed types has increased in recent years due to rapid developments in Indian poultry industry. Development of further processed products from the spent hens' meat would be the most profitable way of utilizing this class of poultry with tough meat¹⁻³. Meat yield and quality characteristics of meat is essential for utilization of any meat in further processed products. Busides, edible meat yield is an important criteria that determines the price of birds.

Effect of breed, strain and age on carcass components and meat yields in broiler was reported by many workers⁴,⁵. Dressing percentage was reported to be higher in heavy breeds than in light breeds⁶. Higher dressed yields and total meat yields were reported in broiler breed spent hens (twice heavier) than light breeds⁷. Very little information is available on the comparison of meat yields and quality characteristics of meat from spent hens of egg type breeds. In the present study, carcass components from spent hens of 'White Leghorn' (WL) and 'Rhode Island Red' (RIR) breeds and WL heavy type (similar body weight as that of RIR) were investigated for evaluating the comparative merit of the three breed types. Besides, the quality characteristics of hot deboned meat from both the breeds were analysed.

Materials and Methods

Spent hens: Spent hens of above 500 days old available from a research farm were utilized in the study. Data on various carcass components were collected on 12 birds from each of the 3 breed groups. White Leghorn (WL) and Rhode Island Red (RIR) spent hens were selected at random and WL heavy type (WL birds of similar body weight as that of RIR). The birds were fasted for 15 hr, live weight was recorded, slaughtered, hand dressed and dressed weight was recorded.

Carcass components: Weight of various components were recorded after hand deboning the dressed birds in hot condition within 3 hr of slaughter. Skin was removed from all over the body including shoulder part of the wing. Separable fat included abdominal fat and subcutaneous fat. Breast meat was from the breast and leg meat included meat from thigh and drumstick. Wing and back meat included meat from shoulder part of the wing and back of the carcass. Deboned meat was arrived at by adding breast meat, leg meat and wing and back meat. Total meat included deboned meat, skin, fat, gizzard, heart and liver. Deboned frames were pressure cooked to obtain cooked meat (meat left over when deboned meat was separated), chicken oil and cooked skin which were added to total meat to obtain total edible meat.

Meat quality evaluation: Deboned meat consisting of the meat from breast, legs, wings and back from 6 birds belonging to each of WL and RIR breeds was individually packed in polyethylene bags and frozen at -10° C for 6 days. The frozen meat thawed at 5°C for 15 hr and fine minced (once coarse mincing through 0.8 cm plate and then through 0.5 cm plate) was analysed for the physico-chemical characteristics as per

[•]Present address: Central Avian Research Institute, Izatnagar-243 122, India.

the procedures reported earlier⁸. The data were analysed statistically and means were compared⁹,¹⁰.

Results and Discussion

Carcass components: Carcass components and yields from the 3 breed groups are presented in Table 1. Significant differences between breed groups were observed for the components leg meat, deboned meat, deboned meat per cent of live and dressed weight and fat per cent of dressed weight. Deboned meat expressed as weight or per cent yield of live or dressed weights was significantly higher in RIR (heavy) breed. This showed that a unit weight of live bird or dressed carcass from RIR spent hen resulted in a significantly higher deboned meat yield than WL spent hen.

No significant difference was observed in deboned meat yield between the light and heavy types within the WL breed. However, the heavy type WL yielded significantly higher fat per cent of dressed weight than the other types. This has indicated that heavy type WL yielded relatively less deboned meat but more fat. Dressing percentage was relatively higher in RIR compared to WL and this is in agreement with the findings of Peters⁶. Yolk weight was relatively lower in heavy type of WL indicating a relatively lower level of egg production.

Breast meat weight did not differ significantly between the breed groups but leg meat weight was significantly higher in RIR. Breast meat when expressed as per cent dressed weight was significantly higher in light type WL compared to heavy type WL. Leg meat as per cent dressed weight was significantly higher in RIR than other types. This has shown that the increased deboned meat yield in RIR was due to the increased leg meat yield. And it was a desirable feature as dark meat was reported to have higher emulsifying capacity than light meat¹¹,¹². Total meat by weight or when expressed as per cent dressed weight or live weight was higher in RIR compared to both types of WL but the difference was not significant due to high variability. Deboned meat as per cent of meat total was also higher in RIR than other types.

TABLE 1. CARCASS COMPONENTS AND YIELDS FROM WHITE LEGHCRN (WL), RHODE ISLAND RED (RIR) AND WL HEAVY BREED TYPE SPENT HENS

Components/yields	WL	RIR	WL heavy ¹
Live wt (g)	1547±70	1754 <u>+</u> 84	1754 <u>+</u> ;87
Dressed wt (g)	1025 ± 42	1208 ± 64	1164 <u>+</u> 61
Liver wt (g)	41.17 <u>+</u> 2.29	32.17±1.83	35.92±3.23
Gizzard wt (g)	25.25 ± 1.11	26.08 ± 1.33	24.42±1.64
Heart wt (g)	7.67 ± 0.33	8.50±0.45	7.58±0.36
Breast meat, (g)	158.33±4.70	172.83±8.75	158.50±4.90
Leg meat, (g)	157.42±6.61ª	232.00±9.19 ^b	176.67±6.19ª
Wing+back meat, (g)	63.58±4.07	78.17±5.84	77.92 <u>+</u> 6.81
Skin wt, (g)	113.25±7.21	141.75±11.50	118.25 <u>+</u> 6.53
Fat wt, (g)	68.42±11.72	95.08±27.31	147.83 <u>+</u> 31.18
Ova wt ,(g)	40.75±7.62	32.33±5.81	24.63 <u>+</u> .4.39
Deboned frame wt, (g)	402 ± 22.04	408 ± 13.57	374±19.16
Dressing (%)	66.41± 0.85	68.82±1.19	66.29 <u>+</u> 0.92
Deboned meat, (g)	379±12.80ª	483 ± 19.55 ^b	413±14.60ª
Deboned meat % dressed wt.	37.18±0.79ª	40.26±0.66 ^b	35.95±1.15ª
Deboned meat % live wt.	24.69±0.50ª	27.67±0.51 ^b	23.79±0.69ª
Deboned meat % total meat	59.96±1.32	62.66±1.83	56.63±2.40
Total meat, (g)	636 <u>+</u> 27	786±56	747 <u>+</u> 49
Total meat % dressed wt.	62.09±0.73	64.59±1.23	63.90±1.17
Total meat % live wt.	41.26 <u>+</u> 0.84	44.55±1.37	42.31±0.73
Breast meat % dressed wt.	15.58±0.41ª	14.38±0.40 ^{ab}	13.84±0.49 ^b
Leg meat % dressed wt.	15.41±0.36ª	19.37 <u>+</u> 0.40 ⁶	15.44±0.64ª
Skin % dressed wt.	11.16 ± 0.34	11.37±0.74	9.90±0.37
Fat % dressed wt.	6.52±1.04ª	7.01±1.52ª	11.85±2.05 ^b

¹ WL spent hens of similar live wt as that of RIR.

Figures with the same superscript in a row do not differ significantly ($P \leq 0.05$).

Carcass components	Live wt		Dressed wt		Deboned meat		Deboned meat % d. wt		Total edible meat	
Curcuss components	WL	RIR	WL	RIR	WL	RIR	WL	RIR	WL	RIR
Live wt	_	_	.95	.95	.92	.93	45	64	.92	.93
Dressed wt (d.wt)	.95	.95	_	_	.86	.96	62	71	.94	.98
Skin wt	.86	.62	.91	.79	.82	.69	51	75	.92	.81
Fat wt	.23	.88	.46	.93	.14	.86	67	71	.46	.96
Gizzard wt	.80	.50	.84	.45	.61	.40	72	42	.66	49.
Bone wt	.78	.53	.62	.34	.62	.40	24	07	.52	.30
Fat % (d. wt)	.10	.82	.32	.87	.04	.79	58	69	.33	.91
		• • • • • •	. D -00	C. > 700	• ••	D 40	A 4			

TABLE 2.	CORRELATIONS	AMONG	SOME	OF T	HE CARCAS	S COM	MPONENTS	IN	'WHITE	LEGHORN'	(WL)	AND
			'RHOD	DE ISL	AND RED'	(RIR)	BREEDS					

Correlation coefficients >.576 are significant at P<0.05; >.708 are significant at P<0.01.

Correlation: Correlations among some of the carcass components in both the breeds are presented in Table 2 Live weight and dressed weight were highly positively correlated with deboned meat and total edible meat in both the breeds but negatively correlated with deboned meat expressed as per cent dressed weight. This has indicated that per cent deboned meat yield increased relatively with decrease in live or dressed weights. This was due to the increased fat per cent with increased live or dressed weights. Total edible meat when expressed as per cent dressed weight was better correlated with live and dressed weights in RIR than WL showing that the waste was relatively lower in **RIR** with unit increase in live or dressed weights. This was confirmed from the fact that bone weight was significantly correlated with live weight, dressed weight and deboned meat in WL but poorly correlated in RIR.

Dressing percentage was negatively correlated with all traits in WL while it was positively correlated in RIR. But in both the breeds, poor correlations were observed. Fat weight and fat per cent dressed weight were highly correlated with all other traits in RIR. This fact could be utilized for predicting fat yield from live or dressed weights and similarly deboned meat and total edible meat from fat yield. Gizzard weight was significantly correlated with many traits in WL but poorly correlated in RIR. Skin weight was significantly correlated with most of the traits in both the breeds.

Meat quality: The physico-chemical characteristics of meat from both the breeds are presented in Table 3. Chemical composition (moisture, protein, fat and ash) of the meat was found to be nearly the same in both the breeds. No significant effect of breed was observed on pH, cooking loss, salt soluble proteins and extractable

proteins. However, water holding capacity and emulsifying capacity were found to be significantly higher; and water soluble proteins and collagen contents were significantly lower in RIR meat than meat from WL. The higher emulsifying capacity in RIR meat could be due to the low collagen content and higher per cent of dark meat¹³. Emulsifying capacity was reported to be higher in dark meat than light meat^{11,12}. A higher water holding capacity and emulsifying capacity in RIR meat indicated that RIR meat

TABLE 3. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF MEAT FROM WHITE LEGHORN (WL) AND RHODE ISLAND RED (RIR) SPENT HENS

Characteristics	WL	RIR
pН	5.98±0.06	5.99±0.04
Water holding capacity ml/100g	27.82±6.12ª	54.38±9.30°
Cooking loss (%)	28.93±0.68	31.11 <u>+</u> 0.95
Emulsifying capacity ml oil/2.5 g	143±5.32ª	168±2.62 b
Water soluble proteins (%)	4.83±0.15ª	3.86±0.04 ^b
Salt soluble proteins (%)	11.51±0.53	11.60 ± 0.36
Extractable proteins (%)	79.26±3.11	75.28±1.75
Collagen (%)	1.41±0.05ª	1.14±0.01 ^b
Moisture (%)	71.76±0.73	72.20 ± 0.52
Protein (%)	20.66 ± 0.33	20.58 ± 0.31
Fat (%)	6.95±0.77	7.04±0.53
Ash (%)	1.06±0.07	1.12 ± 0.05

Figures with same superscript in a row do not differ significantly $(P \leq 0.05)$

was more desirable than WL meat for emulsion type sausage products. Due to the higher meat yield and better quality of meat, RIR spent hens should demand a better price than WL in the market.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to Dr. P. N. Bhat, Director, IVRI for providing the necessary laboratory facilities.

References

- 1. Cunningham, T. C. and Mugler, D. T., Deboned fowl meat offers opportunities. *Poult. Meat*, 1974, 25, 46.
- 2. Hefferman, B. E., New products from spent fowl. Poult. Proc. Mark. 1978, 29, 22.
- Seideman, S. C., Durland, P. R., Quenzer, N. M. and Carlson, C. W., Utilization of spent fowl muscle in the manufacture of restructured steaks. *Poult. Sci.*, 1982, 61, 1087.
- Hathway, H. E., Meat yield of broilers of different breeds strains and crosses. *Poult. Sci.*, 1953, 32, 968.
- 5. Moran, E. T. Jr., Orr, H. L. and Lormond, E., Dressing, grading and meat yields with broiler chicken breeds. *Fd Technol.*, 1970, 24, 73.

- Peters, G. H., Slaughter experiments with poultry of different weights with special reference to various breeds of domestic fowl and types of poultry. *Anim. Breed. Abstr.*, 1958, 27, 1557.
- Uijttenboogaart, Th. G., Weight composition of chicken broiler and spent hen carcasses. Proceedings of the Fifth European Symposium on Quality of Poultry Meat, held at Apeldoorn, 17-23 May, 1981.
- Kondaiah, N., Anjaneyulu, A. S. R., Kesava Rao, V., Sharma, N. and Joshi, H. B., Effect of salt and phosphate on the quality of buffalo and goat meats. *Meat Sci.*, 1985, 15, 183.
- 9. Snedecor, G. W. and Cochran, W. C., *Statistical Methods*. Oxford and IBH Publishing Co., Calcutta, 1968. 6th Edn.
- Duncan, D. B., Multiple range and multiple F-tests. Biometrics, 1955, 11, 1.
- Parkes, M. R. and May, K. N., Effect of freezing, evaporation and freeze drying on emulsifying capacity of salt soluble protein. *Poult. Sci.*, 1968, 47, 1236.
- McCready, S. T. and Cunningham, F. E., Salt soluble proteins of poultry meat. 1. Composition and emulsifying capacity. *Poult. Sci.*, 1971, 50, 243.
- Maurer, A. J. and Baker, R. C., The relationship between collagen content and emulsifying capacity of poultry meat. *Poult. Sci.*, 1966, 45, 1317.

Studies on the Glycerolysis of Groundnut Oil and Cottonseed Oil

USHA BAJWA AND G. S. BAINS

Department of Food Science and Technology, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana-141 004, India

Received 8 July 1985; revised 23 June 1986

Groundnut oil and cottonseed oil were glycerolysed at 180 and 190° C in the presence of 4, 8 and 12% glycerine using sodium carbonate as catalyst. The amount of alpha-monoglycerides in the glycerolysed oils ranged from 1.4 to 25.3% depending upon the oil, temperature of glycerolysis and amount of glycerine. Viscosity of the glycerolysed products decreased with increase in shear rates. The glycerolysed products exhibited flow behaviour of Newtonian liquids.

About 55 years ago in America, shortenings containing varying amounts of mono-and diglycerides were produced by adding glycerol to the fat during the refining process. These were termed as superglycerinated fats¹. Choudha1y² studied the production of monoglycerides by glycerolysis. Glycerolysis has also been suggested as one of the methods of obtaining higher yields of monoglycerides³. Since there is no information on the partial glycerolysis of oils for direct use in bread making, the present investigation on the glycerolysis of groundnut oil and cottonseed oil was undertaken.

Materials and Methods

Refined cottonseed and groundnut oils were purchased locally and contained 0.19 and 1.8 per cent free fatty acids, respectively. Glycerolysis was carried out with 4, 8 and 12 g of glycerine in 100 g of respective oils using anhydrous sodium carbonate as the catalyst. For cottonseed oil, 0.15 g sodium carbonate was sufficient whereas for groundnut oil, 0.3 g was necessary. The reaction was allowed to take place at 180 and 190°C for 1 hr with continuous mixing. The mixture was then cooled for 1 hr, transferred to a beaker and refrigerated. After 24 hr, the product was brought to

Glycero-

Glyce-

8

12

room temperature and the sediment, if any, was removed.

Free fatty acids and iodine value were determined by by AOAC⁴ methods. Hanus iodine was used in the determination of iodine value. Glycerolysed oils were analysed for alpha-monoglycerides and hydroxyl value using AOCS⁵ procedure. Average results of three replications are presented in Table 1.

Viscosity of glycerolysed oils at 35° C: Rheotest 2 (VEB, Berlin, West Germany) viscosimeter was used with S₁ coaxial cylinder system for determining the viscosity. Different cylinder speeds were used to evaluate the flow behaviour of the products. The following expression was used to calculate the viscosity expressed as centipoise (cp).

$$\eta = \frac{\prec \times Z}{Dr}$$

where, $\eta =$ viscosity; $\alpha =$ Torque; Z=Instrument constant, 5.56; and Dr=Shear gradient from the manual.

Results and Discussion

The results showing the effect of glycerolysis conditions on the properties of glycerolysed oils are presented in Table 1. The degree of glycerolysis depended mainly on temperature and on glycerine concentration. Groundnut oil was more amenable to glycerolysis than cottonseed oil under similar conditions. Glycerolysis of cottonseed oil at 180°C was poor as

lysis temp. (°C)	1 ine (g/100g)	Melting point (°C)	∝-mono- glycerides (%)	Hydroxyl value	Iodine value ^a (g/100g)
		Grow	ndnut oil		
180	4	30	7.0	48.0	84.8
	8	32	8.5	59.8	82.2
	12	32	9.5	65.5	83.8
190	4	32	10.4	85.2	83.1
	8	35	20.3	122.3	81.5
	12	35	25.3	140.4	81.2
		Cotto	nseed oil		
180	4	L	1.4	26.3	96.9
	8	L	1.4	29.7	97.5
	12	L	1.8	34.7	91.5
190	4	30	5.9	62.0	95.2

•Iodine value: Groundnut oil, 89.5; Cottonseed oil, 98.0. L—liquid at 20°C.

6.0

7.3

30

30

67.7

74.4

96.4

93.0

Oil/Gl Oil	Glycero- lysis temp.	Glycerine		Visco	sity (cP) at	indicated	cylinder (r.	.p.m.)	
	(°C)	(g/100g)	4.5	7.5	13.5	22.5	40.5	67.5	121.5
Groundnut oil (GO)	-			65.2	61.0	59.5	57.8	56.4	55.9
Glycerolysed GO	180	4	_	82.4	72.5	70.9	68.6	67.8	67.6
		8		103.0	99.1	96.1	93,5	93.4	_
		12	147.8	137.3	129.7	127.0	124.6	123.6	_
Glycerolysed GO	190	4	160.0	137.3	133.5	128.1	125.2	123.6	
		8	219.1	208.0	198.3	193.0	188.1	-	—
		12	228.8	209.4	196.4	186.4	180.5	_	—
Cottonseed oil (CO)	_	-	_	61.8	61.1	54.9	53.4	53.0	52.8
Glycerolysed CO	. 180	4		61.8	61.0	57.2	57.2	55.9	55.1
		8	_	68.6	64.8	59.5	57.2	56.1	55.7
		12	-	68.6	64.8	59.5	57.9	56.1	55.4
Glycerolysed CO	190	4	-	68.6	61.0	59.5	58.5	57.9	57.6
		8	-	91.0	816.	81.6	79.1	77.8	77.7
		12	-	103.0	96,1	91.5	91.5	89.0	88.9

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF GLYCEROLYSIS CONDITIONS ON THE VISCOSITY OF THE GLYCEROLYSED OILS

TABLE 1. EFFECT OF GLYCERINE CONCENTRATION AND TEMPERATURE ON GLYCEROLYSIS OF GROUNDNUT AND COTTONSEED OILS

Glycerolysed oil

reflected by low alpha-monoglyceride content which varied from 1.4 to 1.8 per cent. However, by simultaneous comparison of hydroxyl value with alphamonoglyceride content of both the oils, it is reflected that there is an equilibrium stage after which the monoglycerides are formed at a faster rate. This stage is attained earlier in groundnut oil than in cottonseed oil. The miscibility of glycerine with oils has been reported to be the determining factor of the extent of glycerolysis6. The apparent miscibility of groundnut oil was greater than that of cottonseed oil during glycerolysis. Kawai⁷ concluded that nature of the oil determines the extent of glycerolysis.



Fig 1. Flow behaviour of groundnut oil glycerolysed at 190°C having different alpha-monoglyceride contents.

Lines 1, 2, 3 and 4 represent glycerolysed groundnut oil with 0, 10.4, 20.3 and 25.3% ≪-monoglyceride contents



Fig 2. Elow behaviour of cottonseed oil glycerolysed at 190°C having different alpha-monoglycsride contents.

Lines 1, 2, 3 and 4 represent glycerolysed cottonseed oil with 0, 5.9. 6.0 and 7.3% \propto -monoglyceride contents.

The glycerolysed groundnut oils containing 20.3 and 25.3 per cent alpha-monoglycerides exhibited a melting point of 35° C (Table 1). However, with decrease in temperature, these passed through the stages of semisolid to solid at refrigeration temperature. On the contrary, glycerolysed cottonseed oil with a maximum of 7.3 per cent of alpha-monoglycerides remained fluid at 30°C and semi-viscous at refrigeration temperature. This is in agreement with the findings of Mehta *et al*⁸.

The values for the viscosity of the oils and their glycerolysed products are presented in Table 2. Groundnut oil was slightly more viscous than cottonseed oil but the viscosity of glycerolysed groundnut oil was considerably higher than that of glycerolysed cottonseed oil. The change in viscosity of groundnut oil with 7.5 r.p.m. of the coaxial cylinder decreased from 65.2 to 55.9 cp and that of the cottonseed oil from 61.8 to 52.8 cp as the speed increased to 121.5 r.p.m. under similar conditions. The viscosity of both the oils increased with increased in degree of glycerolysis.

The flow behaviour properties of oils and their glycerolysed products are presented in Fig. 1 and 2 The linear relationship of curves is indicative of the Newtonian nature of the products. The present data are in agreement with Muller⁹.

From this study, it can be concluded that a product of desired composition and characteristics can be tailored by the manipulating the glycerolysis conditions.

References

- Coppock, J. B. M., Cookson, M. A., Laney, D. H. and Axford, D. W. E., The role of glycerides in baking. J. Sci. Fd Agric., 1954, 5, 8.
- Choudhary, R. B. R., The preparation and purification of monoglycerides. I. Glycerolysis of oils. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1960, 37, 483.
- Chinoy, R. B. F. and Kamath, N. R., Monoglycerides, Paint India, 1953, 3, 27.
- Official Methods of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington DC. 1980, 13th Edn.
- Official and Tentative Methods, American Oil Chemists Society, Illinois, 1977.
- Choudhary, R. B. R., Miscibility of glycerol with different natural oils at different temperatures. Sci. Cult. 1958, 23, 476.
- Kawai, V. S., Ester-interchange between fatty oils and glycerol. J. Soc. Chem., Ind., Japan, 1941, 44, 705. (Chem. Abst. 1948, 42, 2118.).
- Mehta, T. N., Rao, C. V. N., Lakshmikanthan, V. and Shah, S. N., Glycerolysis of peanut and mustard oils. J. Am. Oil. Chem., Soc., 1955, 32, 478.
- 9. Muller, H. G., An Introduction to Food Rheology, William Heinemann Ltd., London, 1973, 53.

Storage Stability of Edible Oils and Their Blends

T. N. MURTHI, (MRS) M. SHARMA, V. D. DEVDHARA, S. CHATTERJEE AND B. K. CHAKRABORTY National Dairy Development Board, Anand-388 001, India

Received 20 May 1986; revised 28 July 1986

Shelf-life of vegetable oil blends containing 25% raw edible oil and 75% refined oil was investigated. Free fatty acids (FFA) increase in expeller pressed edible oils was more rapid than in refined oils, during storage. Edible oil blends, on the other hand, showed a lower increase in FFA than did the individual oils. Peroxide value of raw edible oils and their blends tended to rise steadily to a maximum, declining gradually thereafter. For raw edible oils stored at 37° C in an incubator after 120 days, acceptability was poor at a peroxide value (m.eq./kg) between 5.9 and 16, for refined oils after 90 days at a peroxide value between 4.4 and 9, and for their blends at 4-45 after 90 to 120 days. Consumer acceptance trials indicated no strong dislike for these blended oils in comparison with traditional single oils, but a preference for the latter in certain instances was evident.

Domestic edible oil consumption in India is increasing steadily. A number of non-conventional edible oils are being made available to the consumer through imports, which touched 1.48 million M.T.¹ during the current year. These oils may not be acceptable to the consumer as they are devoid of the regionally-preferred flavours of oils traditionally consumed in the country. In many countries², edible oil is often marketed as a blend of two or three oils, most of which are in raw form. There are reports both abroad³,⁴ and within the country⁵ to demonstrate that a blended edible oil, such as refined soybean oil with raw groundnut oil is better accepted by the consumer. The acceptability and, perhaps, keeping quality of non-conventional edible oils could be brought into line with familiar vegetable oils by suitable blending of the two. Since, the consumer flavour preferences for edible oils differ from region to region, oil blends containing various raw edible oils and refined oils were prepared, and their keeping quality is reported in the present work.

Materials and Methods

The edible oil blends prepared were as follows: mustard oil with refined rapeseed oil (1:3); sesame oil with refined cottonseed oil (1:3); groundnut oil separately with refined cottonseed oil (1:3); refined palm oil (1:3) and refined palmolein (1:3); and coconut oil separately with refined palm oil (1:3) and refined palmolein (1:3). Raw mustard oil and coconut oil were obtained from the local *ghanis*, while raw groundnut and raw sesame oils were expeller products. Refined oils of rapeseed, palm and cottonseed were obtained from the State Oil Seed Growers' Federation. The keeping quality of these edible oil blends along with their ingredients as reference samples, was examined by filling them in a series of air-tight glass bottles of 100 ml each, and ageing them in an incubator at 37°C. All oils were initially analysed for free fatty acids (FFA), peroxide value, refractive index (R.I.) at 40°C and iodine value and saponification value according to the AOCS Official and Tentative Methods⁶. Their fatty acid composition was determined as methyl esters⁷ on a Hewlett-Packard (402) gas-liquid chromatograph fitted with a flame ionization detector using a column (2 m × 3 mm I.D.) packed with 15 per cent diethylene glycol succinate on 80/100 dia to port 'S'. Column temperature was maintained at 200°C and the hydrogen gas flow was 30 ml/min.

Samples under storage were analysed every 30 days for FFA (as oleic acid) and peroxide value. Periodic sensory evaluation of odour and taste was done by a panel consisting of 8 people: they were asked first to arrange the oil samples by odour alone, so that the best odour was tasted first. Acceptability was classified as "Good" or "poor" when 70 per cent of the panel accepted or rejected the sample.

Results and Discussion

The refined oils had initially lower FFA (0.04 to 0.16 per cent) than the raw expeller and *ghani* oils (0.33 to 0.70 per cent). The initial peroxide value (m. eq/kg) of edible oils varied from 2.7 to 17.8, *ghani* oils being the lowest. Edible oil blends containing 25 per cent raw edible oil had a maximum FFA of 0.33 per cent, and a moisture content higher than that of refined oils (0.13 to 0.15 per cent) (Table 1).

Oils used	Moisture (%)	Free fatty acid (%)	Refractive index at 40°C	Iodine value (Wij)	Sap. value
Raw mustard oil (MO)	0.20	0.33	1.466	112	172
Refined rapeseed oil (RRO)	0.10	0.09	1.465	118	190
25% MO+75% RRO	0.15	0.17	1.465	116	186
Raw sesame oil (SO)	0.20	0.66	1.465	111	192
Refined cottonseed oil (RCSO)	0.10	0.04	1.464	109	195
25% SO+75% RCSO	0.13	0.22	1.464	110	194
Raw groundnut oil (GO)	0.20	0.20	1.463	98	192
25% GO+75% RCSO	0.14	0.10	1.453	100	192
Refined palm oil (RPO)	0.10	0.16	1.457	53	199
25% GO + 75% RPO	0.15	0.33	1.457	61	198
Refined palmolein (RPLO)	0.10	0.13	1.456	58	200
25% GO+75% RPLO	0.15	0.18	1.454	64	198
Raw coconut oil (CO)	0.20	0.70	1.448	10	250
25% CO+75% RPO	0.13	0.29	1.455	42	240
25% CO+75% RPLO	0.14	0.18	1.458	47	213

TABLE 1. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF EDIBLE OILS AND THEIR BLENDS

TABLE 2. THE FATTY ACID COMPOSITION (PER CENT) OF THE EDIBLE OILS AND THEIR BLENDS

Particulars	C-8	C -10	C-12	C-14	C-16	C-18	C-18.1	C-18.2	C-18.3	C-22.1
Raw mustard oil (MO)	_	_	_	_	1.9	1.1	10.6	13.8	8.7	52.3
Refined rapeseed oil (RRO) 25% MO+75% RRO			_	_	4.4 3.7	1.5 1.4	64.7 57.4	21.0 18.6	8.3 8.5	 10.4
Raw sesame oil (SO) Refined cottonseed oil (RCSO) 25% SO+75% RCSO				 0.7 0.6	10.2 24.4 19.6	5.3 1.9 2.4	43.3 17.8 24.3	41.2 55.0 53.0	111	
Raw groundnut oil (GO) 25% GO+75% (RCSO)		-	_	 0.6	10.1 20.0	3.8 2.0	52.6 24.0	28.7 53.3	0.8	-
Refined palm oil (RPO) 25% GO + 75% RPO	-	-	- -	1.2 1.1	46.9 40.6	3.6 4.1	39.0 41.3	9.1 12.8	-	
Refined palmolein (RPLO) 25% GO+75% RPLO	_	-	0.4 0.4	1.0 0.8	40.6 37.2	3.1 3.2	42.1 44.6	12.6 13.6	Ξ	
Raw coconut oil (CO) 25% CO+75% RPO	8.9 3.2	7.8 1.5	45.5 16.8	17.4 6.9	8.5 32.9	1.7 3.8	5.5 30.2	2.8 4.6	-	
25% CO+75% RPLO	2.7	1.2	12.6	5.0	31.4	2.8	35.1	8.7	-	_

Cottonseed oil/sesame oil blends (Table 2) had a very much higher level of polyunsaturates (PUFA) (53 per cent) than coconut oil or mustard oil blends (4.6 to 18.6 per cent). The level of erucic acid in the blend containing mustard oil was 10.4 per cent of lauric acid in the blends containing coconut oil 12.6 to 16.8 per cent, and of palmitic acid in the blends containing palm oil and palmolein 31.4 to 40.6 per cent.

The FFA content of all edible oils increased steadily during storage at 37°C in an incubator (Table 3). This

	0		30		60		9	90		120		150	
Particulars	FFA (%)	PV (m.eq/ Kg)	FFA (%)	PV (m.eq/ Kg)	FFA (%)	PV (m.eq/ Kg)	FFA (%)	PV (m.eq/ , Kg)	FFA (%)	PV (m.eq/ Kg)	FFA (%) Kg)	PV (m.eq/	
мо	0.33	2.7	0.35	1.9	0.40	1.8	0.43	1.8	0.47	5.9	0.52	3.0*	
RRO	0.09	14.8	0.13	8.9	0.14	8.7	0.18	9.0			_	_	
25% MO + 75% RRO	0.17	8.6	0.20	10.30	0.21	10.5	0.26	41.3	0.29	45.0	_	—	
SO	0.66	7.4	0.71	8.2	0.81	7.0	0.70	6.8	0.80	6.4	0.98	6.0*	
RCSO	0.04	6.4	0.06	5.3	0.09	4.5	0.09	5.3	0.11	3.0*			
25% SO+75% RCSO	0.22	3.7	0.23	5.4	0.26	9,6	0.22	5.2	0.30	8.0	0.36	13.0*	
GO	0.20	17.8	0.24	19.1	0.27	19.3	0.20	19.3	0.29	18.3	0.35	16.0*	
25% GO+75% RCSO	0.07	13.2	0.09	17.7	0.12	10.4	0.13	12.1	0.18	12.0*	—	_	
RPO	0.16	2.7	0.21	3.3	0.21	7.8	0.23	4.4*	_	_	_	_	
25% GO+75% RPO	0.33	6.0	0.37	8.9	0.21	21.5	0.24	9.0*		-	-	_	
RPLO	0.13	8.8	0.18	5.3	0.21	2.6	0.24	2.0*	_	_	_	_	
25% GO+75% RPLO	0.18	7.4	0.20	15.0	0.22	7.1	0.24	10.0	0.24	13.0*	—	_	
СО	0.70	tr	0.71	tr	0.84	tr	0.89	0.08	0.92	0.1	1.07	tr*	
25% CO+75% RPO	0.18	3.0	0.36	7.0	0.36	5.4	0.25	5.0	0.48	5,0*	_	-	
25% CO+75% RPLO	0.29	2.6	0.31	3.5	0.33	4.4	0.34	4.3	0.40	4.0*		_	

TABLE 3.	THE	KEEPING	QUALITY	OF	EDIBLE	OILS	AND	THEIR	BLENDS	DURING	STORAGE	AT	37	Ć
			CHAN	GES	AT INI	DICAT	ED DA	AYS OF	STORAG	E				

MO: Mustaed oil; RRO: Refined rapeseed oil; RCSO: Refined cottonseed oil; GO: Groundnut oil; RPO: Refined palm oil; PLO: Refined palmolein; CO: Coconut oil.

FFA: Free fatty acid; PV: Peroxide value.

*Poor acceptability.

increase was more conspicuous in raw edible oils (0.33 to 0.52 per cent), and was low in refined oils because of low initial values. Edible oil blends showed a lower increase in FFA (0.05 to 0.11 per cent) than did their ingredients. Among the various edible oil blends, sesame oil or groundnut oil blended with refined cottenseed oil showed the least increase in FFA.

Changes in peroxide values of edible oils stored at 37° C were not regular (Table 3). In most raw edible oils, there was a steady increase to a peak value and a slight decline thereafter. Refined oils showed irregular behaviour. Incorporation of 25 per cent raw edible oils in refined oils influenced the change in peroxide value (of the blends) in the direction of the raw oil component.

The acceptability of raw edible oils became poor when the peroxide value (m.eq/kg) reached 5.9 for mustard oil, 6.4 for sesame oil and 16 for groundnut oil, which occurred after 120 days of storage at 37°C. Coconut oil showed no appreciable increase in peroxide value during storage. In refined oils, acceptability was poor after 90 days of storage at 37°C, when the peroxide value (m.eq/kg) was 9 for rapeseed oil, 5.3 for cottonseed oil, 4.4 for palm oil and 2.0 for palmolein. Raw edible oils showed a longer shelf-life than refined oils probably due to the presence of natural antioxidant.

Blends containing 25 per cent of raw oils developed rancidity after 120 days of storage at a peroxide value (m.eq/kg) of 45 in the mustard oil and rapeseed oil blend, 12 to 13 in cottonseed oil blends containing sesame oil or groundnut oil, 9 in groundnut oil with palm oil, 13 in the groundnut oil and palmolein blend, and 4 to 5 in coconut oil blends containing palm or palmolein. The inadequacy of simple chemical indices like the peroxide, carbonyl and thiobarbituric acid values to corroborate sensory evaluation is well known⁸.

These blended oils were subjected to consumer trial in selected parts of the country. Eastern areas like Calcutta and Bubhaneswar were covered with the rapeseed oil blend containing mustard oil, and in Kerala (Trivandrum) coconut oil blends containing palm oil and palmolein were tested About 1000 consumers



received a 250 g sample of the blend with a questionnaire. The consumer preference in various areas was for oil blends containing cottonseed oil with sesame oil or groundnut oil, coconut oil with palmolein, and rapeseed oil with mustard oil (Fig. 1). Blends containing palm oil were less acceptable to the consumer as a waxy solid mass separates out in these oils.

Incorporation of 25 per cent raw edible oil in refined oils prolonged the shelf-life over that of the refined oil alone by one or two months. Many traditionallyconsumed oils, such as coconut, mustaid and groundnut and refined oils such as palm oil and palmolein are low in polyunsaturates. Suitable blending can raise the level of these polyunsaturates. Edible oil consumption is mainly related to regionally preferred flavours and to the cost of oil. Through blending, consumer-acceptable flavours could be incorporated into non-conventional oils to make the latter more acceptable and stretch edible oil supplies. The present consumer acceptance trials indicated no strong rejection of an oil blend in comparison with the traditionally-liked oil though a preference for the latter was sometimes evident. Oil blends that have techno-economic and nutritional merits could thus ultimately be expected to receive prolonged acceptance given sufficient time for adjustment. A further advantage of using refined oils for blending is the high pesticide levels in raw oils, which the deodorization step in refining is known to bring down (e.g. DDT)⁹.

Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank the Joint Secretary, Ministry of Civil Supplies, New Delhi for financing the research project.

References

- Anon., World Fats and Oils. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1985, 62, 1167.
- A Report on "Draft World Wide Study on the Vegetable Oils and Fats Industry, 1975-2000", Prepared by the International Centre for Industrial Studies, United Nations Industrial Organisation, UNIDO/ICIS, 1977, 46, 49, Dated 16th September.
- Cowan, J. C., Helen, M. A., List, G. R. and Evans, C. D., Organoleptic and oxidative stability of blends of soybean and peanut oils. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1971, 48, 86A.
- Melnick, D. and Walking, A. E., Novel vegetable oil, U. S. Pat. 3, 529, 974-1071.
- Murthi, T. N. and Sharma, C. K., Stability tests of blends of soybean and groundnut oils, *Indian Fd Pckr.*, 1981, 36, 11.
- Official and Tentative Methods American Oil Chemists, Society, Illinois, 1973, 3rd Edn.
- Christopherson, S. W. and Glass, R. L., Preparation of milk fat methyl esters by alcoholysis in an essentially non-alcoholic solution, J. Dairy Sci., 1969, 52, 1289.
- Lea, C.H., in Symposium on Foods: Lipids and their Oxidation by Schultz, H. W., Day, E. A. and Sinnhuber, R. C., (Edn.) The AVI Publ. Co., Inc., Westport, Connecticut, 1962, 5-10.
- Addison, R. F., Zinck, M. E., Ackmn, R. G. and Sipos, J. C., Behaviour of DDT, polychlorinated bi-phenyls and Dieldrin at various stages of refining of marine oils for edible use, J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1978, 55, 391.

ETHANOL PRODUCTION BY ZYMOMONAS MOBILIS: EFFECT OF HIGH SUBSTRATE CONCENTRATION ON THE KINETIC PARAMETER

V. K. JAIN and PARAS NATH

Department of Biochemical Engineering and Food Technology, H. B. Technological Institute, Kanpur-208 002, India

Received 8 February 1986; revised 19 July 1986

Zymomonas mobilis NCIM-2428 and NRRLB-806 were compared for ethanol production from glucose (100 g/l). The latter produced ethanol at higher specific rates of glucose uptake (6.41 g/g.b) and ethanol production (2.32 g/g.h). At higher glucose concentrations, parameters related to cell growth were more affected as compared to ethanol production indicating an uncoupling between growth and catabolism. Maximum ethanol yield was obtained by NRRL B-806 at 100 to 150 g/l concentration.

Yeasts have been conventionally used in the manufacture of industrial alcohol and alcoholic beverages. A promising alternative to yeast as an ethanol producer is bacterium Zymomonas mobilis, which is a common micro-organism in sugar-containing juices in tropical countries and is found as a contaminant in spoiled beer, cider and perry¹. Recently, Rogers et al.² have reported several advantages of ethanol production by Zymomonas mobilis as compared to yeast. Different substrates like glucose²-4, fructose⁵,⁶ and sucrose⁷ have been used for ethanol production by Zymomonas mobilis. Skotnicki et al.³ have observed considerable variation in different strains with respect to sugar or While inhibition of growth and ethanol tolerance. ethanol production by yeast on glucose have been widely studied, comparatively less is known about limiting step in alcoholic fermentation in Zymomonas mobilis. The present report deals with the comparison of two strains of Zymomonas mobilis and the effect of high glucose concentration on the kinetics of ethanol production.

Zymomonas mobilis NCIM-2428 and Zymomonas mobilis NRRL B-806 (obtained from National Chemical Laboratories, Pune and U. S. Dept. of Agriculture, NRRL, Illinois, USA respectively) were maintained on agar slants containing (g/1): glucose 20, yeast extract 10, potassium dihydrogen phosphate 2, ammonium sulphate 1, magnesium sulphate 0.5, agar-agar 20 and adjusted to pH 5.0 The fermentation medium was the same as above (except agar-agar) and the glucose concentration was adjusted at 100, 150 or 200 g/l as described in the text. Fermentation experiments were carried out in a laboratory fermentor (Bioengineering AG, Switzerland) equipped with control and recording facilities for pH, temperature, agitation, etc. For all experiments, 10 per cent (V/V) of inoculum was used to ferment 2.5 1 medium with mild agitation (150 r.p.m.) at 30°C and pH 5.0 (controlled by Mostech AG regular MBB2N. Biomass was estimated by optical density (OD) measurement at 600 nm. Glucose was estimated by dinitrosalicyclic acid (DNS) method⁹, and ethanol was estimated by the ceric ammonium nitrate method of Reed and Truelove¹⁰ after distilling a neutralized sample of fermentation broth.

The experimental data for glucose, ethanol and biomass concentration, for the fermentation of 100 g/l glucose by both the strains were plotted. From these data, kinetic parameters during exponential growth phase were calculated and are shown in Table 1 for both the strains. It is seen that specific growth rate (μ), specific glucose uptake rate (q_s) and specific ethanol production rate (q_p) were much higher for the NRRL strain. However, final ethanol concentration and ethanol yields were not appreciably higher, but due to higher fermentation rate, the fermentation was almost complete in 16 hr (92 per cent of glucose was consumed). For NCIM strain, cell yield was more and the fermentation was slow and continued for 24 hr. These results

TABLE 1. COMPARATIVE KINETIC PARAMETERS FOR FTHANOLPRODUCTION BY ZYMOMONAS MOBILIS NCIM-2428 ANDZYMOMONAS MOBILIS NRRL B-806

Kinetic parameters	Z. m	obilis
	NCIM-2428	NRRL B-806
Specific growth rate, μ /hr	0.147	0.188
Specific glucose uptake rate, qs (g/g hr)	3.01	6.41
Specific ethanol productivity, $qp(g/ghr$) 1.18	2.32
Cell yield, $Y_{x/s}$ (g/g)	0.029	0.016
Ethanol yield, $Y_{p/s}(g/g)$	0.42	0.43
Ethanol yield (% of theoretical)	83.7	84.9
Final ethanol concn (g/l)	41.5	42.5
Final biomass concn. (g/l)	2.9	1.59
Conversion of glucose (%)	97 .0	98.0
Fermentation time (hr)	24.0	22.0
glucose, 100g/l; pH, 5.0; temp. 30°C		

Kinetic parameters	Initial glucose concn (g/l)					
	100	150	200			
Specific growth rate, (μ /hr)	0.188	0.152	0.145			
Specific glucose uptake rate, q(g/g hr)	6.41	6.5	6.8			
Specific ethanol productivity, q(g/g hr)	2.32	2.45	2.83			
Cell yield, $Y_{x/s}(g/g)$	0.016	0.016	0.015			
Ethanol yield, $Y_{p/s}(g/g)$	0.43	0.43	0.41			
Ethanol yield, (% of theoretical)	84.9	84.9	80.9			
Final biomass concn. (g/l)	1.59	2.20	2.53			
Final ethanol concn. (g/l)	42.5	58.0	70.0			
Final conversion of glucose (%)	98.0	89.2	88.5			
Fermentation time (hr)	22.0	30.0	36.0			
pH, 5.0; temp. 30°C						

TABLE 3. EFFECT OF GLUCOSE CONCENTRATION ON THE KINETICS OF ETHANOL PRODUCTION BY ZYMOMONAS MOBILIS NRRL B-806

clearly demonstrate that NRRL strain is superior for ethanol production.

For such a strain, it would be interesting to ferment high glucose concentration (150, 200 g/l) to obtain high ethanol concentration in the broth. The kinetic parameters were evaluated according to the previous experiment, and are reported in Table 2. It is seen that with increasing glucose concentration parameters related to growth (specific growth rate, cell yield) are noticeably when compared to affected than those cennected with ethanol production (specific glucose uptake rate, specific ethanol production rate and ethanol yield). Laudrin-Seiller et al.⁴ also made similar observations on the influence of initial glucose concentration (50-190 g/l)on the fermentation kinetics of Zymomonas mobilis. This suggests uncoupling between growth and catabolism as reported by Belaich et al.¹¹,¹². King and Hossain³ reported maximal ethanol yield at an initial glucose concentration of 100 g/l, but specific growth and specific ethanol production rate were less than 10 per cent below the maximum observed at 75 g/l glucose level.

We obtained same ethanol yield (34.9 per cent) at 100 and 150 g/l glucose concentration, but specific growth rate is slightly reduced at the latter glucose concentration. At 200 g/l glucose, ethanol yield is reduced to 80.9 per with a decrease in specific growth rate and biomass yield indicating inhibition of growth and ethanol production. However, at all the three glucose concentrations, specific ethanol productivity remains nearly same, but final ethanol yields are reduced due to inhibition by increasing concentration of ethanol during the final stage of fermentation. At high initial substrate concentration, the intracellular water percentage falls during the fermentation cycle, which is responsible for inhibition of cell growth. Initial glucose concentration of 100 to 150 g/l appears to be optimal for maximum ethanol yield by Zymomonas mobilis.

Authors are grateful to Prof. A. K. Vasishtha, Director, H. B. Technological Institute, Kanpur, for the encouragement and the facilities provided during this work.

References

- 1. Swings, J. and De Ley, J., The biology of Zymomonas. Bact. Rev., 1977, 41, 1.
- Rogers, P. L., Lee, K. J. and Tribe, D. E., Kinetics of alcohol production by Zymomonas mobilis at high sugar concentrations. Biotechnol. Lett., 1979, 1, 165.
- 3. King, F. G. and Hossain, M. A., The effect of temperature, pH, and initial glucose concentration on the kinetics ethanol production by Zymomonas mobilis. Biotechnol. Lett., 1982, 4, 531.
- Laudrin-Seiller, I., Torrijos, M., Uribellarea, J. L. and Goma, G., Alcoholic fermentation by Zymomonas mobilis: Effect of initial substrate on physiological parameters. Biotechnol. Lett., 1984, 6, 477.
- Toran-Diaz, I., Delezon, C. and Baratti, J., The kinetics of ethanol production by *Zymomonas mobilid* on fructose medium. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, 1983, 5, 409.
- Toran-Diaz, I., Jain, V. K. and Baratti, J., Effect of fructose concentration and aeration on ethanol production by Zymomonas mobilis, Biotechnol. Lett., 1983, 5, 697.
- Lyness, E. and Doelle, H. W., Fermentation pattern of sucrose to ethanol conversions by Zymomonas mobilis. Biotechnol. Bioengng., 1981, 23, 1449.
- Skotnicki, M. L., Lee, K. J., Tribe, P. E. and Rogers, P. L. Comparision of ethanol production by different Zymmonas strains. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 1981, 41, 889.
- Bernfeld, F. E., in *Methods in Enzymology*, Eds., Colowick, S. P. and Kaplan, N. O., Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1955, Vol. I, 149.
- Reid, V. W. and Truelove, R. K., The colorimetric determination of alcohols. *Analyst., Lond.*, 1952, 17, 325.
- Belaich, J. P. and Senez, J. C., Influence of aeration and of pantothenate on growth yields of Zymomonas mobilis. J. Bacter. 1965, 89, 1195.
- Belaich, J. P., Belaich, A. and Simonpietri, P., Uncoupling in bacterial growth: effect of pantothenate starvation on growth of Zymomonas mobilis. J. Gen. Microbiol., 1972, 70, 179.

MODIFICATION OF PONS'S METHOD OF ESTIMATING AFLATOXIN B₁ IN CORN, GROUNDNUT AND GROUNDNUT CAKE

E. R. RATI, V. PREMA, AND T. SHANTHA Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013, India

Received 24 June 1985; revised 29 April 1986

Pon's method for determination of affatoxin B_1 has been modified by eliminating column clean up step and by introducing an additional TLC development in ether + hexane (1:1). Aqueous acetone extract is diluted to contain 25% acetone which expedites filtration and improves the clarity of the filtrate. Recovery of affatoxin added to groundnut flake, groundnut cake and corn was 83-107%. Quantification of aflatoxin B_1 in naturally contaminated commercial groundnut cake by the modified method compared well with that by CB method.

With the outbreak of aflatoxicosis in turkeys in 1960 and the subsequent recognition of aflatoxin problem in food and feed, there have been constant efforts to evolve precise, efficient and simple methods of analysis for aflatoxins. As a result, many methods have been developed of which Best Foods (BF) and Contaminants Branch (CB) are accepted officially for the quantitative estimation of aflatoxin. BF1 method is simple and rapid because it does not involve any purification steps. However, interference by pigments may complicate quantitation especially at low levels of aflatoxin. CB¹ and Pons's² methods arer ecommended by A.O.A.C.; in both, the precedures are lengthy and involve column chromatography. According to Pons², purification of the sample by column separation is not always essential. In this communication, a modified procedure which is simple but with recoveries comparable to any other method is described.

Aflatoxin B_1 reference standard: Crystalline aflatoxin B_1 prepared in this laboratory and whose purity was checked¹, was used.

Spiking of the sample: Known amounts of aflatoxin B_1 from a stock standard solution in choloroform was added to 50 g of groundnut (hand picked and sorted grade) flakes (0.25 mm size), corn and groundnut cake which were ground to pass through BSM-18. Chloroform in the samples was allowed to evaporate at room temperature and the samples were stored in a refrigerator until required for analysis.

TLC plates: 20×20 cm glass plates coated with TLC grade silicagel with binder (ACME Chemical laboratories) to get 300 μ thick layers.

Estimation of affatoxin B_1 in the spiked samples was carried out as described by Pons²⁻⁴, CB¹ and by the modified method as indicated in this paper. The steps involved are as follows: 50 g sample was extracted with 250 ml of acetone+water (85+15) by shaking for 30 min in a shaker; 50 ml filtrate was treated with 10 ml 20 per cent lead acetate and 50 ml water. The mixture was held for 5 min The filtrate was again diluted with and filtered. 100 ml water and extracted twice with 25 ml portions of chloroform²⁻⁴ which was passed through a bed of anhydrous sodium sulphate. The chloroform extract was concentrated on a water bath to a suitable volume for TLC analysis.

Ultimate separation and quantification: Samples extracted by modified method were analysed by TLC as follows: The plate was developed either in ether alone or in combinations of ether: hexane (3:1 or 1:1) and subsequently developed in chloroform:methanol (97:3 v/v). In another experiment, the plate was directly developed in the latter solvent system, and after air drying, the plates were observed under long wave UV light for the appearance of bluish flourescent spots corresponding to those of aflatoxin B₁. Aflatoxin B₁ in the sample was quantified by dilution to extinction method of Coomes.⁵

It was observed that while partitioning toxin from aqueous acetone to chloroform, the following disadvantages were encountered in Pons's¹ method: (1) as a part of acetone goes into chloroform, the volume of the lower phase increased and (2) the filtration of chloroform extract through sodium sulphate bed was slow owing to moisture carried by acetone and the final extract was turbid. In the modified method, these difficulties were overcome by bringing down the acetone level to about 25 per cent. All the reported methods involve a column cleanup which is eliminated in the modified procedure, hence economising on chemicals and time.

The per cent recovery of aflatoxin B_1 from groundnut flakes on direct TLC in chloroform:methanol (97:3 v/v) solvent system was 143:76 which is significantly higher (p < 0.05), and if the plate was developed in ether alone prior to development in chloroform: methanol (97.3 v/v), the recovery was 65.64 per cent which is significantlylower (p < 0.05). On the other hand, if the plate was developed in ether:hexane (3:1 v/v) or in ether:hexane (1.1 v/v) the recoveries were 102.6 and 98.4 per cent respectively (n=8, SEM 28 df±6.02).

The recovery (per cent) of aflatoxin B₁ from groundnut flakes spiked at 240 p.p.b. level by the different methods was: Pons² 85.42; Pons³ 96.52; Pons⁴ 113.18; CB¹ 87.07 and the proposed method 97.92, [n=6; SEM (25 df)]

TABLE 1.	RECOVERY	OF	AFLATO	OXIN	B1 .	ADDED	то	GRO	UNDNUT
FLAKES, GF	ROUNDNUT	CAR	E AND	CORN	I BY	THE	MODI	FIED	METHOD

Aflatoxin	Per cent recovery in								
added (ppb)	Groundnut flake	Groundnut cake	Corn						
15	89.08 ^x	106.67_{b}^{x}	90.68 ^{xy}						
50	99.52 ^x	104.00 ^x	105.20 ^x						
100	89.20 ^x _{ab}	103.00 ^x	84.20%						

Mean of six estimations. SFM $(36 df) \pm 5.23$

Means of the same column followed by different superscripts (x, y) differ significantly.

Means of the same row followed by different subscripts (a, b) differ significantly according to Duncan's new multiple range test (P < 0.05).

TABLE 2	AFLA	TOXIN	B ₁ IN	NATUI	RALLY	CON	TAM	INAT	ED
СОММ	ERCIAL	GROU	NDNU	r cake	SAMP	LES I	BY C	. В.	
		AND N	AODIFI	ED MET	HODS				

Method	Aflatoxin B (ppb)
С. В.	328.33
Modified	295.00

Mean of six estimations; SEM $(10 df) \pm 44.65$

Means do not differ significantly according to Duncan's new multiple range test.

I 4.4]. Recovery by the modified method was thus comparable to other standard methods.

Table 1 presents recoveries of aflatoxin B_1 by the modified methods for groundnut flakes, groundnut cake and corn spiked at 15, 50 and 100 p.p.b. levels. The recovery at 100 p.p.b. level was lower in case of corn. When a comparison among the three commodities is made, no significant variation was observed between groundnut flake and corn at 15 p.p.b. level but there was significant change in values between groundnut cake and corn at 100 p.p.b. levels. Though the differences observed are significant, it is relevant to point out that a 15 per cent variation is allowed in the visual method of estimation. While comparing recoveries (%) between modified method and CB method for naturally contaminated commercial cake a greater variance [SEM $(10 \text{ df}) \pm 44.65$] was noticed (Table 2), but there was no significant difference between the methods.

It is concluded that the modified method is simple and takes less time and chemicals is comparable to any other methods as far as per cent recovery of toxin is concerned. The authors acknowledge Mr. B. S. Ramesh, for help in statistical analysis and Dr. V. Sreenivasamurthy for his encouragement throughout this work.

References

- 1. Official Methods of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington D. C., 1975, 12th Fdn.
- Pons, W. A. Jr., Cucullu, A. F., Lee, L. S., Robertons, T. A., Franz, A. D. and Goldblatt, L. A., Determinations of aflatoxins in agriculture products; Use of aqueous acetone for extraction. J. Ass. off. analyt. Chem., 1966, 49, 554.
- Pons, W. A. Jr., Cucullu, A. F., Franz, A. D. and Goldblatt, L. A., Improved objective fluorodensitometric determination of aflatoxin in cotton seed products. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1968, 45, 694.
- Pons, W. A. Jr., Lee, L. S., and Stoloff, L., Revised method for aflatoxins in cottonseed products and comparison of thin layer and high performance liquid chromatography. Determinative steps. Collaborative study, J. Ass. off. analyt. Chem., 1980, 63, 899.
- Coomes, T. J., Crowther, P. C., Francis, B. J. and Stevens, L., The detection and estimation of afiatoxin in groundnut and groundnut materials. *Analyst, Lond.*, 1965, 90, 492.

L-MALATE CONTENT IN IRRADIATED ONIONS (ALLIUM CEPA L.) CV. VALENCIANA SINTETICA 14

J. L. PICCINI¹, D. R. EVANS², AND H. O. QUARANTA³ Rosario 772, 6° 53, (1424) Buenos Aires, Argentina

Received 1 October 1985; revised 24 June 1986

Results of L-malate evaluation in control and irradiated onions, (cv. 'Valenciana sintetica 14,') and its correlation with sprouting cumulative values are reported. It was concluded that if on the 150th day of storage, the malate content reaches a maximum value and the sprouting is 1% or less, then it would indicate that the samples have been irradiated. L-malate values are positively correlated to sprouting in control samples, while for irradiated ones correlation was negative.

L-malate has been determined, among a lot of other onion chemicals, in order to see if it could constitute a parameter of freshness in stored onions treated with maleic hydrazyde¹,². Gorin² reported that L-malate changed during storage in similar manner for control

Present address;

¹Dto. Ciencias Exactos,

Universidad Nacional Del, Sur, Bahia Blanca, Argentina. ²Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA. and treated batches, there being a pronounced differeence from the 7th month until the end of the 9th month while in storage. No data are available in literature about evaluation of L-malate behaviour during storage of irradiated onions. This paper reports the results of an experiment on L-malate evaluation in control and irradiated onions, cv. 'Valenciana sintetica 14', and its correlation with sprouting cumulative values

Onion bulbs (medium size) of the 'Valenciana sintetica 14' cultivar packed in plastic net bags were obtained directly from the packaging line at a farmer's cooperative and stored under cover in an open shed for 9 months from 2 April to 26 December 1984. During storage, day temperatures ranged from about 33°C to about 15°C with minimum night temperatures ranging from about 18°C to 1°C. Relative humidity during this period were taken using a hair hygrometer; RH percentages from 60 to 85 were observed. Halft he batch was irradiated 30 days after harvest with a dose of .03 kGy (3 krad). Irradiation was carried out with a Phillips X-ray machine with a dose rate of 2.60 Gy/min.

One onion bag from each treatment was opened at regular intervals (Table 1) and the number of sprouted bulbs was recorded. Then, three sets of 5 bulbs from each sample were randomly withdrawn and analysed for L-malate. The onions from each set were sliced over a container with liquid nitrogen and dropped into it. The sliced onions were freeze-dried and ground in a cross-beater mill using a sieve with pores of 1.0 mm diameter. The resulting onion powder was kept under nitrogen at -75° C. The mass fraction of moisture in the powders was 0.97-2.16 per cent, determined as in Gorin³.

 TABLE 1. SPROUTED BULBS IN IRRADIATED (.03 KGy)

 AND CONTROL ONIONS DURING STORAGE

Sampling date		Storage	Sprouted bulbs(%)*			
Day	Month	(days)	Control (%)	lrradiated (%)		
2	APR	0	0.0	0.0		
30	APR	28	0.1	0.0		
30	MAY	58	0.3	0.0		
2	JUL	91	1.1	0.1		
30	JUL	119	4.0	0.1		
30	AUG	150	12.2	0.2		
28	SEP	179	30.7	0.5		
30	OCT	211	47.1	1.2		
26	NOV	238	63.4	3.3		
26	DEC	268	80.0	5.8		

*The values given are cumulative.



Fig. 1. Evolution of L-malate during storage of onions, cv.
'Valenciana sintetica 14', irradiated (x- - -x) with .03 kGy and untreated (0-0).

Values are mass fractions of g/100 g powder and vertical bars represent 1 S.D. (n=3). Values were not corrected for moisture in the powders that varied between 0.97% and 2.16%.

The enzymatic estimation of L-malate was carried out according to the procedure described by Gorin²: triplicates of 100 mg onion powder each were poured into Pyrex glass tubes. Ten ml distilled water, heated to 85° C, were added to each tube to achieve inactivation of natural enzymes. The tubes were hermetically closed, shaken on a Vortex mixer for one min and placed in a water bath (85° C) for 5 min. The suspensions were then centrifuged at 1,600 G for 45 min at 6°C in a refrigerated centrifuge.

The supernatant was poured into the cell for the enzymatic estimation of L-malate as described in the literature.⁴ For the reference cell, the same reagents were used, except that the malate dehydrogenase solution was replaced by double distilled water².

Table 1 shows the cumulative values of sprouted bulbs for both control and irradiated onions over the 9-month storage period. The percentage of sprouted bulbs in the irradiated batch (5.8 per cent) at the end of the experiment (268 days) was similar to that observed in the control onions (4.0%) after 119 days of storage.

The evaluation of L-malate during storage of control and irradiated onions, is presented in Fig. 1. The L-malate content increased during storage in a similar pattern in both the batches until the 179th day of storage. After this, until the end of the experiment (268 days), the control batch showed the same trend of increase in L-malate values from 2.47 to 2.72 g/100 g powder. Inversely, the amount of L-malate in irradiated onions decreased from 2.57 to 2.08 g/100 g powder after reacting a peak at 150th day of storage.

In the light of these results, it can be concluded that a peak in the L-malate content near the 150th day of storage followed by a decline would suggest that onions had been irradiated, specially if at peak time less than 1.0 per cent of the bulbs show sprouting activity. Further research can confirm this hypothesis.

Thanks are due to Mr. L. Spadaro for his kind cooperation in this study and to Mrs. A. M. Graciani for onion powder preparation and enzymatic analysis.

Reference

- Gorin, N. and Borcsok, S., Chemical composition of stored onions, cultivar Hyduro, as a criterion of freshness. *Lebensm. -Wiss. u.-Technol.*, 1980, 13, 164.
- Gorin, N., Sum of soluble sugars (fructose, glucose and sucrose) and L-malate as possible parameters of freshness for stored onions, cultivar Hyduro. Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch., 1982, 174, 300.
- Gorin, N., Several compounds in golden delicious apples as possible parameters of acceptability. J. agric. Fd Chem., 1973, 21, 670.
- 4. Mannheim, B., In: Methods of Enzymatic Food Analysis, West Germany 1980.

PREPARATION OF FRUIT FLAVOURED BEVERAGE FROM WHEY

R. L. GAGRANI, S. D. RATHI AND U. M. INGLE College of Agricultural Technology

Marathwada Agricultural University, Parbhani-431 402, India

Received 17 June 1985; revised 18 July 1986

Whey beverage was prepared from whey free of proteins and fat with an acidity of 0.5% and 20° brix and flavoured with orange, pineapple, guava and mango fruit juices at 10, 15, 20 and 25% of whey. Sensory evaluation showed that whey beverage prepared from mango juice with 15% of whey was superior to others; maximum values for colour, sedimentation, turbidity and viscosity were also observed for this beverage.

In India, whey is obtained as a by-product in the preparation of *Chhana*, *Paneer*, cheese and casein. Generally, whey contains about 6.5 to 7.0 per cent solids, which is approximately half of the total solids of original milk and has a good nutritional value.

A large part of the whey produced in India is drained in to gutters which creates problems of pollution besides loss of valuable nutrients. A logical way to use it would be to return it to the human food chain in a palatable form. "Whevit" a nourishing soft drink was manufactured by using *chhana* whey, which was flavoured with orange, lemon, pineapple and mango essences.¹ Tomato whey drink was also prepared from cheese whey.² The present study was undertaken to utilize the whey in the preparation of fruit flavoured beverages and investigate their physico-chemical properties and acceptability.

The whey was obtained from standardised (4.0 per cent fat) cow's milk by simple acid (2 per cent citric acid) coagulation method. The precipitation of whey proteins was carried out at 0.5 per cent acidity by boiling for 15 min and allowed to settle the proteins for 5 to 6 hr. The small amount of fat present in the whey was separated by passing it through a cream separator. The nearly fat free, clear whey was used for the preparation of beverage base. The acidity of clear whey was adjusted with citric acid to 0.25 and 0.50 per cent. Sugar was added to get the four levels of brix i.e. 10° , 15° , 20° and 25° for each acidity level. These eight samples were subjected to sensory evaluation to select the whey beverage base.

The whey beverage base chosen was mixed thoroughly, strained and heated to boiling and held for 15 min. At the end of processing, the loss of volume was corrected by addition of hot water and allowed to cool. Canned orange, pineapple, guava and mango juices were added to separate batches of whey beverage base. Each fruit juice was added at 10, 15, 20 and 25 per cent of whey beverage base. The final product was adjusted to 0.5 per cent acidity and 20° brix, by adding citric acid and sugar respectively. Samples were stored at refrigeration temperature (4–5°C) till they were subjected to sensory evaluation by 9–point hedonic scale³. The evaluation was carried out by 5 selected judges. Four samples were given at a time. For each test, four replicates were used.

Sensory evaluation of whey beverage base (Table 1) showed that 0.5 per cent acidity with 20° brix sugar level was superior to other treatments. The effect of acidity level and concentration of sugar was found to be statistically significant. This was selected as a base for the preparation of fruit flavoured whey beverage. The results of the present study are in conformity with findings of Nelson *et al.*⁴

Highest scores were recorded in case of 10 per cent fruit juice of orange, 15 per cent of pineapple, 25 per cent of guava and 15 per cent of mango. The effect of fruit juice concentration was significant in case of orange and guava and non-significant with pineapple and mango. The fruit flavoured whey beverage adjudged as the best for each type of fruit was used for final comparison.

UNDER DIFFERENT TREATMENTS				FLAVOURED WHEY BEVERAGE									
Sugar ([°] Brix)	Whey acidity (%)	Colour	Flavour	Consist- ency	Mouth feel	Mean score	Type of flavour	Whey beverage	Colour	Flavour	Con- sistency	Mouth- feel	Mean score
10	0.5	81.25	73.75	75.00	72.85	75.71		concn.					
15	0.5	83.75	78.75	81.25	81.42	81.29		(%)					
20	0.5	86.25	83.75	80.00	87.14	84.28					<i>.</i>	17	6.02
25	0,5	82.50	78.75	80.00	80.00	80.31	Orange	10	7.3	0.0	7.1	0.7	0.92
10	0.25	72,50	67.50	68.75	67.14	68.97	Pineapple	15	7.3	6.7	7.1	6.8	6.97
15	0.25	71.25	71.25	73.75	70.00	71.56	Thouppio				-		
20	0.25	73.75	77.50	73.75	75.71	75.71	Guava	25	7.1	6.4	7.1	5.9	6.62
25	0.25	73.74	75.00	75.00	78.57	78.58			7 0		7.1	7 1	7 40
Acid	lity		Sugar	t			Mango	15	7.8	1.1	/.1	7.1	7.42
S.E. C.D	==0.05837 .==0.1717	7	0.082: 0.2428	55 8			S.E.=0.14	50	C.D.	=0.4636			
			TABLE 3.	PHYSICO	-CHEMIC	L QUALTIN	Y OF FRUIT FI	AVOURED	WHEY BI	EVERAGE			
Туј	pe of flave	our	Whey beverage base conc (%)	Lact m	ose	Sucrose %	Proteins %	Ash %	C	Colour	Sedimen tion %	ta- Vi	scosity %
Orange			10	4.3	0	14.06	0.22	0.72	0.1]	R+0.3Y	1.5	:	3.5
Pineappl	e		15	4.1	8	14.16	0.26	0.78	0	.41 Y	1.0		3.5
Guava			25	4.1	0	14.21	0.35	0.86	0	.41 Y	1.0	:	3.5
Mango			15	4.2	0	14.15	0,28	0.50	0.7	R+0.45Y	2.5		4.25
Total sol	lids. 20%	: turbidi	itv. 96–98 %	: acidity	.0.5%: a	nd pH 4.	21-4.29						

As seen from Table 2 the highest score was recorded for mango flavoured whey beverage followed by pineapple, orange and guava. The highest score with respect to colour, flavour and mouthfeel was observed in case of mango flavoured whey beverage, while the consistency score was uniform with all the four fruits used.

TABLE 1. AVERAGE SCORE OF WHEY BEVERAGE BASE

The mango beverage maintained its physical characters. Physical quality attributes were also studied of the selected fruit flavoured whey beverages and results are given in Table 3. The maximum values for colour, sedimentation, turbidity and viscosity were observed with the mango flavoured whey beverage. Though sedimentation value was the highest in this product, it gets redispersed when shaken. Mango flavoured whey beverage with the highest turbidity and viscosity was liked by the panel.

It can be observed from Table 3 that all the beverages prepared by using orange, pineapple, guava and mango were similar in chemical composition with respect to the different parameters. Though whey proteins had been precipitated, the proteion content of the final product was due to proteins from fruit juice. Higher values were observed in guava fruit flavoured whey beverage due to use of a higher per cent of guava juice, which is rich in proteins and ash. The pH, total solids and protein content of the final product is similar to these reported by Guy^5 , Nelson *et al.*⁴ and Schuster.⁶

TABLE 2. AVERAGE SENSORY SCORE OF FRUITS

Thus, whey can be utilized in the preparation of acceptable and nutritious fruit flavoured beverages, as it considerably improved the sensory and chemical qualities of the final product.

References

- Bambha, P. P., Setty, P. A. S. and Namburipad, V. K., "Whevit", a nourishing soft drink. *Indian Dairym.*, 1972, 24, 153.
- Webb, B. H. and Whitter, E. O., The utilization of whey. A review. J. Dairy Sci., 1948, 31, 139.
- Gupta, S. K., Sensory evaluation in food. Indian Dairym., 1976, 28, 293.
- Nelson, F. E., Brown, W. C. and Taylor, R. R., Whey utilization in fruit flavoured drinks. *Cult. Dairy Prod. J.*, 1972, 7, 11.
- Guy, E. J., Citrus flavoured beverages made from cheese wheys and soy flours. J. Dairy Sci., 1968, 51, 932.
- Schuster, J., Process for producing refreshing beverages free from alcohol, CO₂ and preservatives. German Federal Republic Patent Appl., 2535904–1977.

STUDIES ON DEHYDRATION AND DEEP FREEZING OF PANEER

L. VISHWESHWARAIAH

Department of Dairy Technology, National Dairy Research Institute, Bangalore-560 030, India

Received 7 April 1986; revised 21 July 1986

Even though the shelf-life of *paneer* can be extended from fifteen days to two months by dehydration, the reabsorption characteristics were poor and in addition, it lacked cohesive property. By deep freezing the shelf-life could be extended to eight days, but surface hardening was observed.

Paneer is an acid coagulated product of milk which is mainly used as a base for culinary preparations. According to the Prevention of Food Adulteration Act, of India, it should not have more than 70 per cent of moisture and not less than 50 per cent of fat on dry matter basis¹. It has a limited shelf-life of three days at 10°C due to high moisture content.² The product goes bad with the development of off-flavours, growth of yeast and molds, case hardening, etc. An attempt was made to extend the shelf-life of *paneer* by dehydration and deep freezing.

The milk used in the experiment was procured from the National Dairy Research Institute, Bangalore. It was collected at the receiving point after dumping into the Batch Pasteuriser to obtain a composite sample which had the following composition: fat 4.2 per cent, total solids 12.5 to 13.2 per cent and acidity 0.15 per cent. Paneer was prepared by standard procedure^{3,4}, wherein five litres of milk was coagulated at 80°C with 1.5 per cent citric acid solution (pH 5.0). Curd was filtered and transferred into a wooden hoop $(4'' \times 4'' \times 4'')$, and a pressure of 2 kg per sq.cm was applied to completely drain off the whey. The paneer was chilled to less than 5°C. The material was cut into 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 cm cubes and dried in a hot air drier at 75°C. Using a Phila-Pa (U.S.A.) extruder with dies of dia 1, 2 and 4 mm, the paneer was extruded into a noodle like product to increase the surface area. Paneer was also deep-frozen at -9 and -15°C. Samples were drawn everyday to study the changes.

Fresh *paneer* had a proximate composition of fat 23.5 per cent, moisture 55.0 per cent and total solids 45 per cent. The effect of drying on composition of *paneer* is presented in Table 1. After 4 hr exposure to 75°C *paneer* cubes continued to have a moisture content of 15 to 18 per cent, which is due to case hardening. The surface hardening can be prevented by controlling the relative humidity (RH) and temperature of the circulating air. The extruded *paneer* retained less moisture of 5 to 9 per cent and drying was compar-

TABLE 1. EFFECT OF DRYING ON COMPOSITION OF PANEER*

Cube size	Time needed (hr min)		Moisture (%)	Fat (%)	Fat loss (%)				
0.5 cm	3	00	15.0	41.50	2.0				
1.0 cm	3	30	17.0	40.60	1.8				
2.0 cm	4	00	18.0	40.25	1.5				
Extruder Paneer									
1.0 mm	1	45	5.0	44.60	5.8				
2.0 mm	2	05	6.0	44.30	5.2				
3.0 mm	2	25	8.0	44.60	3.8				
4.0 mm	2	35	9.0	44.40	3.2				

*Values are average of six trials.

atively faster. Exposing for longer periods resulted in caramelisation and deepening of brown colour. It had poor rehydration characteristics. A longer contact with water resulted in disintegration and dispersion of the product, which lacked the cohesive property. Since casein is the principal milk protein responsible, it is already denatured by heat-acid coagulation involving unfolding of poly-peptides resulting in the loss of ability to bind, adsorb and absorb other food components. During drying, the proteins undergo further denaturation resulting in low water absorption capacity⁵. Through melting of surface fat during prolonged heat exposure, there was a fat loss ranging from 1.5 to 2.0 per cent in paneer cubes and 3.2 to 5.8 per cent in extruded paneer. The cubes did not keep well beyond 15 days and in all of them mold growth was seen. Extruded paneer kept well for two months, mainly due to reduced moisture content. The lipids being unstable undergo oxidation to produce off-flavours coupled with hydrolytic rancidity.

Deep freezing of *paneer* to -9 and -15° C showed surface drying in eight days limiting its usage. Texture deterioration was not observed due to the formation of fine structured ice crystals by fast freezing. Significant colour changes were not noticed and flavour was acceptable. Appropriate packaging material which protects from desiccation might further help in extending the shelf-life. There was not much difference in the sensory attributes between the samples deep frozen at the two temperatures namely -9 and -15° C.

References

- 1. Prevention of Food Adulteration Act (Amendment) Rules, 1976, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Govt. of India, New Delhi.
- Bhattacharya, D. C., Mathur, O. N., Srinivasan, N. R. and Samlick, O., Studies on the method of production and shelf-life of *paneer*. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1971, 8, 117.

- 3. Vishweshwaraiah, L., Studies on paneer. 1979. Thesis, University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore.
- De, S. and Ray, S. C., Studies on the indegenous method of chhana-making.
 The influence of the conditions of coagulation and the type of milk on the production of chhana. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, 1954, 7, 113.
- Wu, Y. V. and Inglett, G. E., Denaturation of plant proteins related to functionality and food application. J. Fd Sci., 1974, 39, 218.

PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF INDIAN COCOA (THEOBROMA CACAOL.) BEANS

ESTHER MALINI, J. PURANAIK, S. SHIVASHANKAR AND E. S. NAMBUDIRI

Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013, India

Received 17 December 1985; revised 24 April 1986

To know the regional variation in the quality of cured Cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) bean samples from Kottayam, Puttur, Sakaleshpur and Chundale have been analysed. The ranges of variations being, weight per bean 0.78-0.89 g, violet beans 0-24%, salty beans 0-5%, insect damaged and fungus infested beans 0-20%, whitish beans 0-20%, rejects 0-32.5%, nibs 82.7-85.9% and shell 14.1-15.2%. The variations in chemical parameters are moisture 4.33-6.10%, total ash 2.97-3.14%, water insoluble ash 1.48-1.91%, alkalinity of water soluble ash 0.33-0.59% (asK₂O), pH of nibs 4.93-5.37, titrable acidity 2.17-2.88, volatile acidity 0.92-1.16, total sugars 0.96-1.00% lactic acid 0.27-0.57%, citric acid 0.56-0.88%, tannins 2.35-2.72% theobromine 1.32-2.04% and fat 48.30-52.63%.

In India, cocoa is grown in Karnataka, Kerala and some parts of Tamil Nadu. The cured cocoa beans of commerce¹ is obtained by subjecting fresh cocoa beans along with pulp to fermentation and drying. Although there are standards for quality of the beans with respect to physical parameters, no standards have been laid down for chemical parameters. Standards are prescribed for cocoa products such as cocoa powder and cocoa butter. A study of the chemical parameters provides useful indices for assessing the type of fermentation the beans have undergone and the regional and seasonal variations. It would also indicate the type of cocoa products that could be produced from the beans. With this in view, both physical and chemical parameters of cocoa beans processed at different regions have been analysed and data presented.

Cured beans (May-August 1983 season) procured from Kottayam (Kerala State), Puttur and Sakaleshpur (Karnataka State) and Chundale (Tamil Nadu State) were analysed. Size determination² was carried out on 100 beans randomly selected from the sample after discarding the damaged beans. The visual method for estimating the quality of fermented beans, namely, "cut test" was adopted to evaluate the beans. One hundred beans were cut longitudinally at the centre and the colour and texture of the cotyledons were taken as an index of fermentation.

AOAC methods³ used for tea analysis were adopted for chemical analysis. For estimation of the alkaliod theobromine, Gerritsma and Koers⁴ method was followed. Lactic acid was estimated by the method of Barker *et al.*⁵ and citric acid by the method of Shaffron *et al.*⁶. The results are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

The physical analysis indicates the variations of weights of beans from 0.78-0.89 g which points out the tendency to harvest immature pods which should be avoided. The presence of violet beans (4-24%) indicates that some samples are underfermented. The presence

TABLE 1. PHYSICAL COMPOSITION OF COCOA BEANS									
Source of samples	Samples analysed (No.)	Mean wt 100 beans (g)	Violet beans (% range)	Salty beans (%)	Insect damaged & fungus infected beans (%)	Whitish beans (% range)	Rejects (% range)	Nibs (mean) (%)	Shell (mean) (%)
Kottayam	19	77.95ª	0-4	Nil	0–20	4–42	0-32.5	82.7 (65.61)ª	17.3
Puttur	6	83.00 <i>ª</i>	0-4	Nil	Nil	0–20	0-18.6	85.9 (68.02)ª	14.13
Sak aleshpur	7	89.14ª	0–4	Nil	0–8	0–4	0-4.7	85.9 (68.04)	14.11
Chundale	4	80. 75 ª	0–24	0–5	Nil	Nil	0-13.5	84.8 (67.04)	15.22
S.D.		±12.65 (32 df)	_	-	_	-	-	± 3.15 (32 df)	

Figures in parentheses are the angular transformed variates.

Figures in the same column followed by same superscript do not differ significantly according to Duncans new multiple range test (P<0.05)

Parameters	Kottayam	Puttur	Sakaleshpur	Chundale	S. D.
No. of samples	19	6	7	4	
Moisture (%) @	5.76 (13.87) <i>ª</i>	4.74 (12.55) ^b	6.10 (14.29)ª	4.33 (12.00) ^b	± 0.69 31 df
Total ash (%) @	3.14 (10.19) ^a	3.21 (10.35) ^a	3.17 (10.22) ^a	2.97 (9.92) ^a	± 0.82 31 df
Water insoluble ash (%) @	1.64 (7.34) ^{ab}	1.48 (6.97)ª	1.91 (7.94)¢	1.73 (7.55) ^{bc}	$\pm^{0.48}_{31 \text{ df}}$
Alkalinity of water soluble ash (as K ₂ O/100g)	0.58ª	0.59ª	0.33 <i>a</i> b	0.49 b	± 0.18 31 df
pH	5.16ª	4.93ª	5.53¢	5.37a	±0.40 31 df
Titrable acidity (ml of 0.1 N NaOH/g) 2.88 <i>ab</i>	3.52ª	2.17	2.51 <i>ab</i>	$\pm 0.70 \\ 31 df$
Volatile acidity (ml of 0.1N NaOH/g)	1.06ª	1.16ª	1.02ª	0.92ª	± 0.38 31 df
Total sugars (%) @	0.96 (5.53) ^a	0.75 (4.85) ^a	0.80 (4.94) ^a	1.00 (5.66) ^a	±1.20 31 df
Lactic acid (%) @	0.57 (4.24) ^a	0.64 (4.34) ^a	0.27 2.92ª	0.53 (3.98) ^a	± 1.09 28 df
Citric acid (%) @	0.88 (5.38) ^a	0.62 (4.49) b	0.64 (4.56) b	0.56 (5.68) ^b	$\pm 0.53 \\ 30 df$
Tannins (%) @	2.05 (8.13) ^a	2.37 (8.64)ª	3.00 (9.95) ^a	2.72 (9.42) ^a	±1.46 31 df
Theobromine (%)	1.32 (6.55) ^a	1.54 (7.16) ^b	1.73 (7.55) ^{bc}	2.04 (8.22)¢	± 0.52 29 df
Fat (%)	49.29ª	48.30ª	52.63ª	51.04ª	± 3.96 31 df

TABLE 2. CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF COCOA BEANS

Figures in parentheses are the transformed variates.

Figures in the same row followed by different superscripts differ significantly according to Duncan's multiple range test (P < 0.05). (@Statistical nanlysis was done on transformed variates (Angular-transformation).

of high percentage of whitish beans and rejects is attributed to harvesting of immature and under developed pods. The percentage of nibs varies from 82.8 to 85.9 per cent which is satisfactory.

The moisture content of cocoa beans is less than 6 per cent which indicates that they are well dried. The pH of the nibs varies from 4.93 to 5.53 indicating that some samples are acidic; accordingly the fermentation has to be controlled to produce beans of pH 5.2–5.6. Titrable acidity ranges from 2.17 to 3.52 and volatile acidity from 0.27 to 6.3 which quantifies the amount of acids in the beans. Tannins varied from 2.05 to 3.0 indicating reduction consequent to fermentation.

The results emphasize the point that only beans from well matured pods should be subjected to fermentation to obtain cured beans of uniform quality. The authors thank Sri B. S. Ramesh, for statistical analysis of the data and Dr. B. L. Amla, Director of the Institute for his keen interest in this work.

References

- 1. Rohan, T. A., Processing of Raw Cocoa for the Market, Food and Agricultural Organization, Rome, 1963.
- 2. Dewitt, K. W., The visual assessment of cured cocoa. Trop. Agric., 1953, 30, 228.
- Official Methods of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, 1984, 14th Edn.
- Gerritsma, K. W. and Koers, J., Determination of theobromine in cocoa residues. Analyst, Lond., 1953, 78, 201.
- Barker, S. B. and Summerson, W. H., The colorimetric determination of lactic acid in biological material. J. biol. Chem., 1941, 138, 535.
- Shaffron, M. and Denstead, F., Rapid method for the determination of citric acid. J. biol. Chem., 1948, 175, 849.

SOME PHYSICO-MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF CHILLIES

U. S. SHIVHARE, MAHARAJ NARAIN, U. S. AGRAWAL, R. P. SAXENA AND B. P. N. SINGH

Centre of Advanced Studies in Post Harvest Technology, College of Technology, G. B. Pant University of Agriculture and Technology, Pantnagar-263 145, India

Received 12 July 1985; revised 29 April 1986

Physico-mechanical properties of chillies (*Capsicum*) (important in systematic design of transport, handling, packaging and storage systems) and shearing strength were determined. The bulk density, true density and bed porosity values of sound green chillies were 0.37 g/ml, 0.84 g/ml and 56.0% respectively, whereas for dried chillies the corresponding alues were 0.13 g/ml, 0.58-0.62 g/ml and 77.6-79.0% respectively. Energy required to shear the dried chillies at different impact loads was measured and ranged from 0.052 to 0.199 joules.

Chilli (Capsicum) is an important cash crop and is mostly preserved in dehydrated form. In the absence of efficient mechanical drying system, currently almost all the chilli produced in the country is sun-dried. This results in considerable losses.¹ In addition, there are losses in transport, processing, packaging and storage. Unit technologies and technology systems for various phases such as transportation, handling, drying, packaging, and storage of chillies could not be developed systematically for want of adequate data on physicomechanical properties. The present study was, therefore, undertaken to generate this data and included determination of physico-mechanical properties of green, sun-dried and mechanically dried chillies and shearing strength of mechanically dried chillies; initial moisture content was also measured in each case. The results are reported in this paper.

Chilli variety 'Pant C-1' (a common local variety of the Tarai region of North India) was selected for the study. For each experiment, one kg of ripened green chillies were hand picked from the field which formed the representative sample. Mechanically dried chillies were obtained by drying crilli samples in an experimental batch dryer by passing heated air at 50°C and at a velocity of 1.5 m/s.² Sun-drying was done by spreading the chillies in single chilli thick layers on concrete floor³. Bulk density was determined by measuring the volume of a known weight of chilli samples. True density was measured using toluene displacement method⁴. Each test was replicated thrice. The bed porosity was calculated using the experimentally determined values of bulk and true density. Moisture content

was determined by drying the samples in a vacuum oven⁵.

Shearing characteristics of the dried chillies were determined on an experimental shearing unit.² The unit employed was a compound pendulum with a cutting blade fitted to a hammer for shearing and had a provision to hold the chilli vertically at the central position under the axis of rotation of the pendulum. The blade attached with the hammer struck the chilli perpendicular to its position to shear it in horizontal direction. The equipment had a provision to drop the pendulum from any desired angle in the range of $0-90^{\circ}$. A pointer showed the location which the pendulum reached after shearing the chilli in the form of a residual angle which was used as a measure of residual energy of the pendulum. Energy spent in shearing the chilli was obtained by subtracting the sum of frictional and residual energy from the initial energy of the pendulum. Observations were taken for the values of initial angle of the pendulum in the range of 28 to 60°, based on the preliminary investigations which revealed that the shearing did not take place below 28°. For each pendulum angle, five replications were made. The dried chilli for shear test had a moisture content of 16.5 per cent (w.b.). Chilli samples for shear test were so chosen that the diameter of the selected chilli was about 1 ± 0.1 cm at the shearing plane and the length was 8+0.5 cm.

The average values of bulk density, true density, and bed porosity of freshly harvested sound chillies and that of dried chillies are given in Table 1. This shows that the bulk density of dried chillies is approximately one-third while the true density is 70–74 per cent of the values for fresh sound chillies. Since the bed porosity has been estimated using the measured values of bulk and true density, the difference in values is obvious. The table also shows that the true density of dried chillies remains practically unaffected by the change in moisture content from 14 to 5 per cent (w.b.).

TABLE 1. PHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF FRESHLY HARVESTED SOUND CHILLIES AND DRIED CHILLIES									
Type of chilli	Bulk density (g/ml)	True density (g/ml)	Bed porosity (%)						
Freshly havested sound chillies (moisture content: 75%w.b.)	0.37	0.84	56.0						
Mechanical dried chillies moisture content: 14%w.b.)	0.13	0.62	79.0						
Sun-dried chillies moisture content: 5 %w.b.)	0.13	0.58	77.6						

Initial pendulum angle	Initial pendulum energy (joules)	Fictional energy loss (joules)	Striking velocity of pendulum (m/s)	Striking energy of pendulum (joules)	Residual pendulum energy (joules)	Energy for shearing chilli (joules)
60°	0.4957	0.1282	2.230	0.4316	0.1685	0.1990
50°	0.3541	0.1110	1.862	0.2986	0.1057	0.1374
40°	0.2319	0.0903	1.473	0.1868	0.0384	0.1032
35°	0.1793	0.0751	1.283	0.1418	0.0239	0.0803
30°	0.1328	0.0574	1.100	0.1041	0.0068	0.0686
28°	0.1160	0.0500	1.028	0.0910	0.0142	0.0518

TABLE 2. ENERGY SPENT IN SHEARING THE CHILLI AT DIFFERENT PENDULUM ANGLES

The potential energy of the pendulum and the energy utilized, in shearing the sample and/or to overcome the frictional losses in the system, could be obtained with help of the following relationships:

$$E=0.9914 (1-\cos \theta) \qquad (1)$$

and,
$$E_{f}=E_{i}-E_{r}=0.9914 (1-\cos \theta_{i})-(1-\cos \theta_{r})$$
$$=1.9828 \sin \left(\frac{\theta_{i}+\theta_{r}}{2}\right) \sin \left(\frac{\theta_{i}-\theta_{r}}{2}\right)$$
$$(1)$$

where, E=potential energy of pendulum, joules

 F_f =Energy required for shearing and/or to overcome the frictional losses, joules

 E_i =initial energy of pendulum, joules

 E_r = residual energy of pendulum, joules

 $\theta = pendulum angle, degrees$

- θ_i = initial pendulum angle, degrees
- θ_r = residual pendulum angle, degrees

The frictional energy loss for different pendulum angles at no load (without sample) was calculated using equation (2). Frictional energy loss increased linearly with the pendulum angle, the relationshiop being:

$$E_f = 0.002435 \ \theta_i - 0.013265 \ (Coeff. \ corr. = 98.9\%)$$

In addition to the mechanical strength of the chilli, the shearing energy depended on the striking velocity and so the striking energy of the pendulum. The striking velocity of the pendulum was calculated using the relationship

$$\mathbf{V} = \sqrt{2g\mathbf{R}(1 - \cos\theta_i)} = 2\sqrt{g\mathbf{R}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta_i}{2}\right)$$

where, V represents striking velocity of pendulum, m/s; g stands for gravitational accleration constant, m/s^2 ,

and \mathbf{R} is the length of pendulum, m. The striking energy of the pendulum was estimated by subtracting half of the frictional energy loss value from the corresponding value of initial pendulum energy under no load. The values of striking velocity, striking energy of the pendulum and the shearing energy are given in Table 2. The dependance of shearing energy on striking energy was found to be linear, the relationship being:

 $E_{sh} = 0.40705 E_{st} + 0.02165 \text{ (Coeff. corr.} = 99.5\%)$ (5)

where, E_{sh} and E_{st} are the shearing and striking energies in joules, respectively. The energy required to shear the dried chillies at different impact loads varied from 0.052 to 0.199 joules.

References

- Annual Report, All India ICAR Coordinated Scheme for Studies on Harvest and Post Harvest Technology, 1982, Department of Post Harvest Process and Food Engineering, G. B. Pant University of Agric. and Tech., Pantnagar, 1983, AED/83/1.
- Annual Report, All India ICAR Coordinated Scheme for Studies on Harvest and Post Harvest Technology, 1980, Department of Post Harvest Process and Food Engineering, G. B. Pant University of Agric. and Tech., Pantnagar, 1981, AED/81/2.
- Annual Report, All India ICAR Coordinated Scheme for Studies on Harvest and Post Harvest Techology, 1978, Department of Post Harvest Process and Food Engineering, G. B. Pant University of Agric. and Tech., Pantnagar, 1979.
- Official Methods of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, D.C., 1975, 12th Edn.
- Ranganna, S., Mannual of Analysis of Fruit and Vegetable Products, Tata McGraw Hill Publishing Co., Ltd., New Delhi, 1977, 2.

problem on stationary fits by using machinery adhesives. In contrast to mechanical devices, machinery adhesives are generally used in rigid cylindrical assemblies in shear or compressive mode to eliminated leakage and provide non cracking joints. The above book is well written to guide the designer, engineer or mechanic in selecting and using machinery adhesives effectively. This is a book of 'why', 'how' and 'what' for standard machinery adhesives. The book contains a lot of empirical and scientifically derived data. The data are very well organized and have been presented in tables and graphs for ready reference. The book contains 8 chapters.

The Ist chapter deals with the general information on machinery adhesives such as their definition, uses, selection, packaging and handling. An exhaustive table is given which provides information on trade names for most common generic plastics.

Chapter-2, provides the engineering data in respect of properties of machinery adhesives, proof load of steel bolts and stress area of threads, torque coefficient, viscosity, s_1 ess clearance, temperature, humidity, surface coverage, and the treatment for nuts and bolts, pipe fittings, sealing welds etc. The information is quite useful for design purposes where normal safety factors are used.

Charter-3 deals with the environmental effects on machinery adhesives such as molecular breakdown by strong chemical reaction, solvation, absorption, stress cracking, mechanical stressing and desorption; all of which get accelerated by elevated temperature. A guide for the selection of anaerobic materials for sealing and locking in the presence of liquids and gases is also given in a tabular form. Chapter-4 places emphasis on proper application of the machinery adhesives. The application considerations discussed include clearance of parts, proper applications, quality assurance and safety. The techniques, tools and instruments for application of liquid adhesives have been listed. A good description of systems and automation and the details of tools and instrument required for the same have also been provided.

Chapter-5 deals with the design of bolted joints loosening tendencies of bolted joints and prevention of premature loosening, applications for thread locking adhesives and securing of studs. Design equations and design data are provided for the guidance of designers and engineers.

Chapter-6 deals with the adhesives fitting of cylindrical parts. The information presented includes calculations, design data and other relevant design details.

Chapter-7 describes the traditional threaded systems, sealing techniques for such systems, design considerations and calculations and necessary design data on sealing.

Chapter-8 gives design hints for simplifying part manufacture, making use of standard machine parts, electrical insulation, machining etc.

In general, the book follows the systems approach to the problem of machinery adhesives for locking, retaining and sealing and is very informative and well designed, The book is an excellent reference work for designers. engineers and mechanics concerned with the problems of making sealed joints involved in the design and manufacture of various machines and equipments.

> Maharaj Narain G. B. Pant University of Agriculture & Technology Pantnagar

SUBSCRIBE TO

INDIAN FOOD INDUSTRY

A quarterly journal published by the

ASSOCIATION OF FOOD SCIENTISTS AND TECHNOLOGISTS (INDIA) C.F.T.R.I. Campus, Mysore-570 013

It is an unique journal which gives:

Food Industry reviews

Food Industry Developments

New ventures Patents Processes and products Equipment and packaging Statistical data and Commercial Intelligence Food Regulations

* Generalia

Food Policy

mann

 Notes and News
 Personalia, Books, Prizes and Awards, Training Programmes etc.

• Seminars, symposia, fairs etc.

Annual Subscription

India: Rs. 125/-

Foreign: By Airmail: \$50.00

Seamail: \$40.00

Send your Cheque/DD drawn in favour of the Association of Food Scientists and Technologists (India), Mysore-570 013.

- Manuscripts of papers (in triplicate) should be typewritten in double space on one side of bond paper. They should be complete and in final form, since only minor corrections are allowed at the proof stage. The submitted paper should not have been published or data communicated for publication anywhere else. Only invited review papers will be published.
 Short communications in the nature of Research Notes should clearly indicate the scope of the investigation and the salient features of the results.
 Names of chemical compounds and not their formulae should be used in the text. Methods of sampling, number of replications and relevant statistical analyses should be indicated. Superscripts and subscripts should be legibly and carefully placed. Foot notes especially for text should be avoided as far as possible.
 Abstract: The abstract should indicate the principal findings of the paper. It should be about 200 words and in such a form that abstracting periodicals can readily use it.
 Tables: Tables as well as graphs, both representing the same set of data, should be avoided. Tables and figures should be numbered consecutively in Arabic numerals and should have brief titles. They should be typed on separate sheets. Nil results should be indicated and distinguished clearly from absence of data, which is indicated by '--' sign. Tables should not have more than nine columns.
 Hustrations: Graphs and other line drawings should be drawn in *Indian ink* on tracing paper or white drawing paper preferably art paper not bigger than 20 cm (oy axis) × 16 cm (ox axis). The lettering should be such that they are legible after reduction to column width. Photographs must be on glossy paper and must have good contrast; *three copies* should be sent.
 Abbreviations of the titles of all scientific periodicals should strictly conform to those cited in the World List of Scientific Periodicals, Butterworths Scientific Publication, London, 1962.
 <

 - the World List of Scientific Periodicals, Butterworths Scientific Publication, London, 1962.

References: Names of all the authors along with title of the paper should be cited completely 8. in each reference. Abbreviations such as et al., ibid, idem should be avoided.

The list of references should be included at the end of the article in serial order and the respective serial number should be indicated in the text as superscript.

Citation of references in the list should be in the following manner:

- (a) Research Paper: Jadhav, S. S. and Kulkarni, P. R., Presser amines in foods. J. Fd Sci Technol., 1981, 18, 156.
- (b) Book: Venkataraman, K., The Chemistry of Synthetic Dyes, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1952, Vol. II, 966.
- (c) References to article in a book: Joshi, S. V., in The Chemistry of Synthetic Dyes, by Venkataraman, K., Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1952, Vol. II, 966.
- (d) Proceedings, Conferences and Symposia Papers: Nambudari, E. S. and Lewis, Y. S., Cocoa in confectionery, Proceedings of the Symposium on the Status and Prospects of the Confectionery Industry in India, Mysore, May 1979, 27.
- (e) Thesis: Sathyanarayan, Y., Phytosociological Studies on the Calcicolous Plants of Bombay, 1953, Ph.D. Thesis, Bombay University.
- (f) Unpublished Work: Rao, G., unpublished, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore, India.
- Consult the latest issue of the Journal for guidance and for "Additional Instructions for 9. Reporting Results of Sensory Analysis" see issue No. 1 of the Journal.

JOURNAL OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

こくさんえん ちょうちょう ひちょうちょう ちょう ひんしん しんしん しんしん しんしん しんしん

Vol. 24. No. 3

Contents of forthcoming issue

May/June 1987

Research Papers

ISOLATION AND PROPERTIES OF LINSEED MUCILAGE by N. S. Susheelamina

QUALITY OF "MARSH" GRAPEFRUIT FOLLOWING COLD TREATMENT AS A METHOD OF DISIN-FESTATION AGAINST THE CARRIBEAN FRUIT FLY by P.G. Adsule, M.A. Ismail and P.J. Fellers

METABOLISM OF ORGANIC ACIDS IN MODIFIED ATMOSPHERE STORED RIPENING MANGOES (MANGIFERA INDICA) by T. N. Prabha, B. A. Veena and M. V. Patwardhan

BIOCHEMICAL CHANGES ASSOCIATED WITH RIPENING OF CHEDDAR CHEESE FROM BUFFALO MILK: THE LIPID COMPOSITION OF BUFFALO MILK AND ZERO-DAY CURD by Abraham Vema and S.R. Anand

BIOCHEMICAL CHANGES ASSOCIATED WITH RIPENING OF CHEDDAR CHEESE FROM BUFFALO MILK: RIPENING CHANGES AT 8°C by Abraham Vema and S. R. Anand

EFFECT OF BLENDING GOAT AND BUFFALO MILK ON SHELF-LIFE OF GHEE by K. L. Arora and S. Singh

STUDIES ON THE BREWING OF LAGER BEER FROM NIGERIAN SORGHUM by Nduka Okafor and Georgina N. Aniche

Research Notes

EFFECT OF SOME OILS, FATS AND BILE SALTS ON GROWTH AND LIPASE PRODUCTION BY STREPTOMYCES SP. L₄ by S. Chakrabarti, S. Chanda and S. Matai

PHYSICO-CHEMICAL TESTS — A BASIS FOR SELECTING THE SIZE OF WHEAT FLOUR by Md. Nurul Islam and H. Buus Johansen

FATTY ACID COMPOSITION OF SOME EUROPEAN EDIBLE VEGETABLE SEED LIPIDS. PART II by Nasirullah and A. Seher

IMPROVEMENT IN COLOUR OF DEEP FAT FRIED POTATO CHIPS FROM COLD STORED POTATOES BY LACTIC ACID FERMENTATION (LACTOBACILLUS PLANTARUM) by J. K. Manan, G. J. Joshi, A. K. Saxena, C. L. Kalra and S. K. Berry

CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF APRICOTS AND THEIR KERNELS GROWN IN LADAKH REGION by (Mrs.) Naveen Kapoor, K. L. Bedi and A. K. Bhatia

QUANTITATIVE VARIATIONS IN SOME METABOLITES IN THE DIFFERENT PARTS OF TWO VARIETIES OF PEAR FRUITS by J. S. Bal, Sohan Singh and S. S. Sandhu

LACTOSE CONTENT – A FACTOR TO DISTINGUISH CHANNA AND KHOA BASED SWEETS by Nusrath Nasir, M. Narayanaswamy, J. S. Sandhu and K. V. Nagaraja

FEASIBILITY OF INCORPORATION OF PARTIALLY DEODOURISED FISH MEAT IN EXTRUSION COOKED PRODUCTS by V. Venugopal

STUDIES ON HIGH PROTEIN BREAKFAST FOOD BASED ON CALCIUM GROUNDNUT PROTEINATE by H. N. Chandrasekhara and G. Ramanatham

Printed and Published by T. S. Satyanarayana Rao, Secretary. AFST(India), CFTRI, Mysore-570 013, at Sharada Press, Mangalore-575 001